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 MALL Ayagawa

Retail and related properties are an integral part of the communities in which they are  located. 

We believe that these properties and facilities in which we invest form the  backbone of local 

communities and their retail business infrastructure. We also aim to ensure stable income and 

achieve steady portfolio growth over the medium-to-long term by investing in retail and related 

properties that contribute to the betterment of individual lives and local communities.

*Refers to retail facilities, logistics facilities and related facilities. Retail facilities refers to facilities containing retail businesses and other merchandis-

ing businesses, entertainment and amusement facilities and other facilities that attract customers (including parking lots and equipment and systems 

for logistics). Logistics facilities refers to warehouses and other storage facilities for distribution and transport of merchandise and other goods.
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Group
Consolidated operating revenue

¥7,078.5 billion

AEON Group employees

440,000
(As of February 28, 2015)

AEON REIT Features

Investment  Focused 

on Large-Scale 

Retail Properties

Collaboration with 

the AEON Group for 

Stability and Growth

Share of large-scale retail properties in 

our portfolio

Currently 100%

We invest primarily in retail properties that 

are an integral part of the  communities in 

which they are located. In this asset class, 

we are structuring a portfolio of large-

scale retail properties that we expect to 

generate stable cash fl ow over the medium-

to-long term.

We maintain stability with long-term sources 

of earnings by investing in retail properties 

operated by the AEON Group, a leading 

retailer and developer of large-scale retail 

properties throughout Japan. We also 

leverage the AEON Group’s retail property 

expertise to generate growth. Please refer 

to pages 4 and 5 for details about the AEON 

Group’s features.

Type

Investment Percentage*

Domestic 
Real Estate

Overseas 
Real Estate

85% or more 15% or less
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Large-scale 
retail 

properties

Super regional 
shopping centers 

(SRSC)

80% or moreRegional shopping 
centers (RSC)

Community shop-
ping centers (CSC)

Other retail 
properties

Neighborhood 
shopping centers 

(NSC)
20% or less

Supermarkets 
(SM)

Logistics facilities 10% or less

*Investment percentage is calculated on an acquisition price basis.

We invest primarily in the retail properties of the AEON Group.
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AA−
(Stable)

Stable Finances

Highly 

Transparent 

Management

Japan Credit Rating Agency, Ltd. 

long-term issuer rating

• Introduction of Cumulative 

 Investment Unit Purchase Program

 On May 1, 2014, we introduced a program 

that enables directors and employees of 

AEON REIT and the Asset Manager to 

acquire AEON REIT’s investment units using a 

cumulative investment program through 

securities fi rms. 

 The program will help to further raise 

 awareness toward enhancing the value of 

AEON REIT’s investment unit price and 

improving business performance to provide 

greater fi nancial motivation in line with the 

interests of unitholders.

Our conservative fi nancial management is 

based on clear fi nancial policies for target 

LTV and other matters. As a result, we have 

strong, stable relationships with fi nancial 

institutions, primarily megabanks. We have 

also received a long-term issuer rating of 

AA- from  Japan Credit Rating Agency, Ltd.

For asset acquisitions from the AEON 

Group or any other related-party transac-

tion, the decision-making process includes 

a mechanism to incorporate the opinions of 

independent third parties having no rela-

tionship with the Aeon Group. This creates 

highly transparent management that 

ensures win-win relationships with both 

unitholders and the AEON Group. Please 

refer to page 22 for details.
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(As of February 28, 2015)

Consolidated subsidiaries: 284

AEON Group Features
The AEON Group is a leading Japanese retailer and  developer of 

large-scale retail properties that focuses on retail operations such 

as general merchandise stores.

Group

Retail 
business

Service 
businesses

Development 
business

Financial 
services 

businesses

Synergy Creation

Highest operating revenue in 

Japan’s retail industry

No. 1
Consolidated operating 

revenue

¥7,078.5
billion

AEON Group’s global 

operations

13
countries

As Japan’s retail industry leader, the AEON 

Group develops large-scale retail properties, 

and is also involved in a diverse array of busi-

nesses including service businesses and fi nan-

cial services businesses.

The AEON Group  operates 

retail stores throughout 

Japan that include AEON 

and other general mer-

chandise stores as well as 

MaxValu and other super-

markets.

With a development 

portfolio that includes 

large-scale regional 

projects and shopping 

centers such as AEON 

Malls and AEON Towns, 

the AEON Group   operates 

207 malls in Japan and 

overseas.

The AEON Group 

provides comprehensive 

retail property services. 

For example, AEON 

DELIGHT CO., LTD. 

 provides comprehensive 

maintenance services that 

include facility manage-

ment, and AEON Fantasy 

Co., Ltd. develops and 

manages indoor theme 

parks.

The AEON Group  operates 

in fi nancial services busi-

nesses,  centered on credit 

cards. It uses its retail 

knowledge in businesses 

such as the AEON Card, 

WAON electronic money, 

and AEON BANK, LTD.

(As of February 28, 2015)
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Powerful  development  capabilities that 

 leverage expertise as a retail property 

developer

Powerful management capabilities based 
on strong leasing capabilities

AEON Group Main Development Projects

Leveraging the experience and expertise  acquired through the retail and development businesses, 

the AEON Group has development capabilities that enable the creation of retail properties with 

diverse confi gurations tailored to various locations. Central to these capabilities, Group company 

AEON Mall Co., Ltd. is a  leading retail property developer in Japan.

The AEON Group’s tenant organization, Aeon Doyou Tenkai, encompasses tenants of its retail 

properties. It gives tenants a wide range of support using proprietary retail know-how the 

Group has acquired through its retail businesses in areas including store management, sales 

strategies, sales fl oor confi guration and personnel training. This supports powerful leasing 

capabilities by creating strong, trusting relationships with a diverse array of tenants. Moreover, 

many AEON Group companies are tenant companies that operate stores in large-scale retail 

properties, which facilitates leasing and integrated shopping center management at the AEON 

Group’s retail properties.

Note: AEON REIT has no plans to acquire the above properties as of the date of this report.

AEON MALL Okinawa Rycom AEON MALL Tonami (artist's rendering)AEON MALL Around Asahikawa Station
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3rd Period
Results

2nd Period
Results

（Yen）
2,710

7th Period
Forecast

2,5302,724
2,4732,461

686

Distribution per Unit

Financial Highlights

This was the 5th Period, which is the fourth reporting period since AEON REIT listed its 

units in November 2013. During the 5th Period, we acquired properties including AEON 

MALL KYOTO using proceeds from our first follow-on offering, thereby expanding our 

portfolio size. In addition, we conducted the largest revitalization to date of properties such 

as AEON LakeTown kaze and AEON MALL Hiezu. Distribution per unit for the 5th Period 

was ¥2,724, which was ¥59 higher than our forecast of ¥2,665. For the 6th Period, we fore-

cast distribution per unit of ¥2,710. We will continue to work in our daily operations to main-

tain long-term, stable distributions.

4th Period Results

August 1, 2014 to
January 31, 2015
(Millions of yen)

5th Period Results

February 1, 2015 to
July 31, 2015

(Millions of yen)

6th Period Forecast 

August 1, 2015 to
January 31, 2016
(Millions of yen)

7th Period Forecast 

February 1, 2016 to
July 31, 2016

(Millions of yen)

Operating Revenues 7,422 9,164 9,387 9,403

Net Income 2,349 2,969 2,957 2,763

Total Assets 169,746 203,795 — —

Net Assets 98,701 119,417 — —

Net Assets per Unit

(Yen) 103,896 109,536 — —

Distribution per Unit

(Yen) 2,473 2,724 2,710 2,530

Performance Highlights (As of July 31, 2015)
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（Billions of yen）

5th Period
Results

4th Period
Results

3rd Period
Results

2nd Period
Results

17
Properties

17
Properties

23
Properties17

Properties
16

Properties

194.3
158.9158.9158.4
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Number of Properties and Total Acquisition Cost

Portfolio Highlights

Total Acquisition Cost

Appraisal Value

Investment Properties

Book Value

Average Remaining Lease Term

Unrealized Profi t
(Appraisal Value minus Book Value)

Average Building Age

Master Lease Occupancy Rate

¥194.3 billion

¥206.3 billion

23 properties

¥189.6 billion

18.5 years

+¥16.6 billion

11.1 years

100 %

Note:   Acquisition cost is the amount paid (the purchase price in the sales 

contract) excluding miscellaneous costs (brokerage commissions, 

taxes and dues, etc.) required to acquire the property.

Note:   Appraisal value with a record date of July 31, 2015.

Note:   Remaining lease term with a record date of July 31, 2015.

(+¥2.8 billion vs. previous period)

Note:   Weighted average on an acquisition price basis with a 

record date of July 31, 2015.
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• International Council of Shopping  Centers: 2011 Sustainable 

Design Award Winner

• Senken Shimbun Co., Ltd.: Fiscal 2009, Innovate Award, 12th 

Tenant’s Choice Developer Awards

• Institute for Building Environment and Energy Conservation: 

September 24, 2008, Class “S”  Certifi cation, CASBEE New 

Construction—New Construction (Abridged)

 LakeTown mori

Awards

 Sagamihara

Shopping Center

 MALL KYOTO
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 MALL Ishinomaki

 MALL Meiwa Taman Universiti Shopping Centre

Awards

• Japan Council of Shopping Centers: 2013, Third Local 

Community Contribution SC Awards, Kurahashi Yoshio Prize

 MALL Morioka MALL MoriokaMAMAAAAMAMAMAMAMAMAMAMAMALLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLL MMMMMMMMMMMMororororororoorrrriiioioioioioioooookkkakkkakakakakakakakakakakMMAMAMAMAMAMAMAM LLLLLLLLLL MMMMMMMMMorororroro iioioioioookkkakakakakakaka MALL Morioka
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This was a period that opened 

up new approaches toward 

achieving our medium-term 

portfolio size target.

Q1

The six property acquisitions we made early in the period demonstrated the diversity of our 

pipeline and AEON REIT’s steady efforts in areas such as enhancing the quality of our portfolio.

What are your thoughts on AEON REIT’s performance and the market environment 

in the 5th Period?

Kenji Kawahara

Executive Director

AEON REIT Investment Corporation

During the period, we acquired new properties using pro-

ceeds from the first follow-on offering since our units 

were listed. In addition to expanding our portfolio, we were 

able to increase distribution per unit to our unitholders. 

AEON MALL KYOTO, one of the six properties we 

acquired in February 2015, is an urban property located 

in front of JR Kyoto Station. We believe it has excellent 

growth potential, including the ability to attract consump-

tion from both Japanese and foreign tourists, and we 

expect it to generate long-term profits. It is a relatively 

new property with location characteristics unlike any 

other property we have owned up to now, and it made a 

substantial contribution to enhancing the quality of our 

portfolio. In addition, five of the six properties were pur-

chased from a special purpose company (SPC) estab-

lished by a third party, so they are significant in terms of 

showing our ability to acquire properties from outside the 

AEON Group. By acquiring these five properties, we 

demonstrated that we have diverse property acquisition 

resources and are not limited to acquisitions from the 

AEON Group’s pipeline. Moreover, these five properties 

are highly profitable as the number-one retail properties 

in their respective regions, and will contribute to increas-

ing the NOI yield of our portfolio. 

In addition, we acquired land adjacent to AEON MALL 

Mitouchihara by general competitive bidding in March. As 

a result, our portfolio size (based on acquisition price) 

increased to ¥194.3 billion in the 5th Period. 

The performance of the properties in our portfolio dur-

ing the period remained stable at a high level in both 

sales at stores and end-tenant occupancy rates, with 

strong consumption by foreign tourists at properties such 

as AEON MALL KYOTO and AEON MALL Hiezu offsetting 

the impact of exchange rate fluctuations and other fac-

tors on the consumption environment. 

To Our Stakeholders
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Our main investment target is commercial facilities that 

form the backbone of local communities and their retail 

business infrastructure. Our mission is to contribute to 

the betterment of individual lives and local communities 

through investment in retail and related properties. In 

doing so, we aim to ensure stable income and achieve 

steady portfolio growth over the medium-to-long term. 

To put that mission into practice, we formulated our 

“strategy to enhance property value through effective 

maintenance work,” and in the 5th Period, we carried out 

the largest revitalization projects since our listing at 

AEON LakeTown kaze and AEON MALL Hiezu. 

To enhance the value of properties over the medium-

to-long term, we made investments in the 5th Period in 

close communication with master lessees (the tenants) to 

maximize the sales and profitability of tenants based on 

our renewal concepts tailored to each region. These 

investments were made from the perspective of enhancing 

value for our unitholders. 

In revitalization investments at AEON LakeTown kaze 

and AEON MALL Hiezu, our “strategy to enhance property 

value through effective maintenance work” enabled us to 

generate returns to unitholders in ways such as imple-

menting rent increases. 

The external environment of AEON REIT and the AEON 

Group has changed significantly, and revitalization invest-

ments to update the content and other aspects of shop-

ping malls in line with changes in consumer preferences 

will continue to be a key strategy. We will work to realize 

our growth strategies while maximizing property value in 

anticipation of various changes in the external environ-

ment, such as the revitalization of agriculture and local 

economies by the Trans-Pacific Partnership (TPP), the 

expansion of inbound tourism consumption due to the 

increase in foreign tourists, and an increase in disposable 

income reflecting rising wages.

Q2

Based on our renewal concept that leverages the characteristics of each regional market, we 

made revitalization investments to enhance store value and generated returns for unitholders 

by maximizing facility value. 

Please discuss the renovations implemented in the 5th Period as part of the “strategy to 

enhance property value through effective maintenance work.”

Q3

We believe that making steady progress while assessing market conditions in Japan and over-

seas is the fastest route to achieving our management vision. We will work toward further 

enhancement of unitholder value by ensuring stable income and steadily building our portfolio.

Please comment on the management vision of achieving assets of ¥300 billion in the 

medium term and ¥500 billion in the long term, and close with a message to unitholders.

To achieve our management vision, it is important that we 

steadily achieve the strategies we have presented to our 

unitholders. We will build up our assets while assessing 

the domestic and overseas market environments to 

establish a stable financial base for the long term. 

Meeting the expectations of unitholders by growing distri-

bution per unit is the object of our management vision, 

and our ultimate goal.

In addition to the stable pipeline of the AEON Group, 

our Sponsor, we utilize diverse resources to acquire 

properties from third parties, as shown by the five prop-

erty acquisitions early this year, and will generate exter-

nal growth while achieving geographic diversity. In terms 

of external growth, we will aim to acquire properties that 

add even more breadth and diversity to our portfolio. One 

example is overseas markets. Instead of focusing only on 

the domestic market, we will also look at overseas mar-

kets that have growth potential. In June 2014, we became 

the first J-REIT to acquire an overseas property. 

Through a little more than a year of operation, we have 

gained knowledge on acquisition and management of 

overseas properties. To encourage the trend of external 

growth by acquisition of overseas properties, the Act on 

Investment Trusts and Investment Corporations was 

revised in December 2014 to allow J-REITs to hold a 

majority stake in properties acquired through foreign 

SPCs, making it possible for us to indirectly own overseas 

real estate through foreign SPCs. While scrutinizing the 

specific risks of overseas markets, we will identify prop-

erties that are consistent with our risk tolerance and 

steadily incorporate them into our portfolio as we work to 

achieve our medium-term vision of ¥300 billion in assets 

and then our long-term vision of ¥500 billion.

I invite unitholders to share in our growth as we bal-

ance stable income and the steady buildup of our portfo-

lio with the aim of further enhancing unitholder value.
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Note: AEON REIT carried out store revitalization and repair work totaling ¥312 million at AEON LakeTown kaze. 

Major Initiatives

To further evolve and refine the concept of AEON LakeTown, “Affinity for Nature. Comfortable for Me,” we clarified the 

characteristics of each mall and improved the “comfort” they provide. 

kaze: An urban mall that aims to capture the vibrant breeze of the latest fashion trends

mori: A lifestyle mall that symbolizes a new lakeside town filled with lush greenery 

“Affinity for Nature. Comfortable for Me.”

Renewal Concept

Maximization of Facility Value with 

AEON LakeTown Renewal
Along with the AEON Group, our Sponsor, we undertook a large-scale renewal at AEON LakeTown, 

a shopping mall in Koshigaya-shi, Saitama Prefecture. This renewal is divided into two phases, 

with the first phase running from fall 2014 to April 2015 and the second phase starting in fall 2015. 

In the first phase, 352 stores were renovated, including the anchor store AEON Style LakeTown. 

12



In the first phase, 96 stores were newly opened, including 48 that 

opened their first outlets in Saitama Prefecture (12 of these were 

the stores’ first in Japan, 7 were their first in Kanto and 29 were 

their first in Saitama), and 59 stores were relocated or renovated.

Updating the Atrium in the Center of kaze

Chandelier art was installed in the large space running from the first to the third floor, and restaurants with different 

concepts were arranged on each floor.  

Renovation of the Food Court

The food courts in kaze were fully renovated to reflect the characteristics and concept of each zone.

Newly

Opened
Relocated Renovated Total

kaze
96

stores

26

stores

33

stores

155

stores

Chandelier Art Installed to Enhance Continuity and Connection

Chandelier art in the atrium extending from the first to third floor in the center of kaze conveys an 

image of flowing water as the symbol of the new kaze. Collections of restaurants with different con-

cepts were arranged around the atrium – GOURMET SQUARE on the 1st floor, CAFÉ PLAZA on the 

2nd floor, and DINING TERRACE on the 3rd floor. Each floor has a different concept with the conti-

nuity of vertical lines creating a sense of unity.

“GOURMET SQUARE” Food Court: Renewal of 

the Dining Space on the 1st Floor of kaze 

The food court was updated as a refined space 

accented with materials that add a sense of 

elegance to the modern setting.  

2

1

Main Renovation Work

Facility and Environmental Renovations

Renovation of Specialty Stores

13



 MALL Suzuka MALL Kushiro-Showa

 LakeTown kaze

Awards
• International Council of Shopping Centers: 2011 Sustainable Design Award Winner

• Senken Shimbun Co., Ltd.: Fiscal 2009, Innovate Award, 12th Tenant’s Choice 

Developer Awards

 MALL Rifu

14



 MALL Nogata

 MALL Kurashiki

Awards
• Senken Shimbun Co., Ltd.: Fiscal 2005, Propose Award, 8th Tenant’s Choice Developer Awards

• Senken Shimbun Co., Ltd.: Fiscal 2006, Propose Award, 9th Tenant’s Choice Developer Awards

• Senken Shimbun Co., Ltd.: Fiscal 2012, Innovate Award, 15th Tenant’s Choice Developer Awards 

15



Master lease agreements

20-year leasing period Fixed-base rent

Sublease agreements Sublease agreements

Tenants Tenants

AEON REIT

AEON Group companies

Lease Structure

Growth Strategy

2

3

4

1

4

1

2

3Maximize unitholder value/
Improve asset 
management stability

Acquire retail 
properties from 
AEON Group

Expand portfolio

Improve financing 
capabilities

AEON REIT AEON Group

Sell retail properties 
to AEON REIT

Operate retail 
properties

Increase earnings and 
AEON Group value

Invest 
for growth

Our Win-Win Relationship with the AEON Group

1. A Growth Strategy Based on Stable Earnings

We will build a stable framework for earnings as the foundation for achieving growth 

by concluding long-term, fixed-base-rent master lease agreements with the AEON 

Group for suburban retail properties with few or no local peers.

Fixed-Base Rent over 20-Year Leasing Periods

AEON REIT and the AEON Group conclude master 

lease agreements that provide AEON REIT with fixed-

base rent over 20-year leasing periods, providing a 

long-term, stable source of earnings.

A Growth Strategy Based on a Win-Win Relationship with the AEON Group

AEON REIT’s growth strategy targets portfolio growth over the medium-to-long term by leveraging the com-

prehensive strengths of the AEON Group. This involves a sound, mutually reinforcing, win-win relationship 

with the objective of maximizing unitholder value.

A long-term framework for stable earnings and 

collaboration with the AEON Group will drive growth.
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(As of July 2015)

Sponsor support agreement

Trademark license agreement

Pipeline support agreements

Shopping center management 
agreements

Memorandum of understanding 
on investments in properties in 

Malaysia

Sponsor
Pipeline support companies

Shopping center management providers
Overseas support company

AEON CO., LTD. AEON Retail Co., Ltd.

AEON Mall Co., Ltd.

AEON Hokkaido Corporation

AEON KYUSHU CO., LTD. 

AEON RYUKYU CO., LTD.

AEON TOWN Co., Ltd.

Integrated AEON Group capabilities

AEON REIT Investment Corporation

AEON Reit Management Co., Ltd.

Stable portfolio growth over the medium-to-long term

AEON CO. (M) BHD.

2. Strong Growth Potential from Collaboration with the AEON Group

We are fully leveraging the information and expertise of the AEON Group through 

various agreements to expand our portfolio and improve asset management stability.

Powerful Pipeline Support

We conclude various agreements with AEON Group 

companies to fully leverage the AEON Group’s 

comprehensive strengths. These include powerful 

pipeline support agreements that provide the right 

of first refusal for retail and related properties operated 

by the AEON Group, information on third-party property 

dispositions, and property co-ownership or quasi 

co-ownership with AEON REIT. Consequently, we 

will be able to expand our portfolio by acquiring 

retail properties that the AEON Group develops.

Asset Management Support That Fully 

Leverages Group Information and Expertise

We conclude shopping center management contracts 

with the AEON Group, which has a wealth of experi-

ence and expertise in operating retail properties. 

These contracts allow us to employ the AEON 

Group’s information, expertise and other strengths 

in the ownership and management of retail proper-

ties. They also enable management support that 

ranges from research and advice for individual 

properties to programs for maintaining the vitality 

of properties over the medium-to-long term and 

redevelopment studies.
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AEON MALL Tonami

AEON MALL Around
Asahikawa Station

AEON MALL Okinawa Rycom

●●

AEON MALL Okayama

AEON MALL Makuhari-Shintoshin

Source: Created by the Asset Manager based on information provided by AEON CO., LTD.

Major Large-Scale Shopping Centers 

Developed by the AEON Group

(Includes Properties under Development)

•Major shopping centers developed by the AEON Group

• Major shopping centers currently under development (opening planned) 

by the AEON Group

Chugoku and Shikoku

•AEON MALL Tottorikita

•AEON Matsue Shopping Center

•AEON MALL Okayama

•AEON MALL Hiroshima Fuchu

•AEON MALL Hiroshima Gion

•AEON Town Houfu

•AEON MALL Takamatsu

•AEON MALL Niihama

•AEON MALL Imabarishintoshi

•AEON MALL Kochi

Kyushu and Okinawa

•AEON MALL Fukuokaito

•AEON MALL Fukutsu

•AEON MALL Yahatahigashi

•AEON MALL Sagayamato

•AEON Daito Shopping Center

•AEON Yatsushiro Shopping Center

•AEON MALL Sankoh

•AEON MALL Miyazaki

•AEON MALL Kagoshima

•AEON MALL Okinawa Rycom

Hokkaido and Tohoku

•AEON MALL Around Asahikawa Station

•AEON MALL Tomakomai

•AEON MALL Shimoda

•AEON MALL Moriokaminami

•AEON MALL Akita

•AEON MALL Natori

•AEON MALL Tendo

•Shopping Mall Festa

 

Kanto and Koushinetsu

•AEON MALL Tsukuba

•AEON MALL Shimotsuma

•AEON MALL Sanoshintoshi

•AEON MALL Takasaki

•AEON Iruma

•AEON MALL Hanyu

•AEON MALL Kasukabe

•AEON MALL Yono

•AEON MALL Urawamisono

•AEON MALL Makuhari New City

•AEON MALL Kisarazu

•AEON MALL Hinode

•AEON MALL Tamadaira Woods

•AEON Hadano Shopping Center

•AEON MALL Nigataminami

•AEON MALL Koufushowa

•AEON MALL Sakudaira

•AEON MALL Nigataminami

Kinki

•AEON MALL Kusatsu

•AEON MALL Kyotogojo

•AEON MALL Kyoto Katsuragawa

•AEON Kireuriwari

•AEON MALL Sakaiteppoucho

•AEON MALL Rinkusennan

Tokai and Hokuriku

•AEON MALL Takaoka

•AEON MALL Tonami

•AEON MALL Kahoku

•AEON MALL Hamamatsuichino

•AEON MALL Nagoya Chaya

•AEON MALL Fuso

•AEON MALL Odaka

•AEON MALL Tokoname

•AEON MALL Kakamigahara

•AEON MALL Toin

•AEON MALL Dainichi

•AEON MALL Osaka Dome City

•AEON MALL Shijonawate

•AEON MALL Itamikoya

•AEON MALL Kashihara

•AEON MALL Wakayama
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AEON REIT is constructing a geographically diversifi ed portfolio that is not concentrated in any one 

area. In Japan, we invest nationwide in areas where we can leverage the  foundation of close ties to 

communities that the AEON Group has established. Overseas, we invest in countries and regions 

where the AEON Group has developed retail properties in expectation of economic development 

over the medium-to-long term.

Property Type Region Investment Ratio (Top 10 Properties)

14.4%
SRSC

AEON MALL 
KYOTO

Others

AEON MALL
 Hiezu

AEON MALL
 Ayagawa

AEON MALL Suzuka

AEON Sagamihara
 Shopping Center

AEON MALL Nogata

AEON MALL 
Kumamoto

AEON MALL 
Mitouchihara

AEON MALL 
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0.3%
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5.0%
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Kyushu 12.1%

31.7%

10.3%

14.8%

17.7%

13.0%
Chugoku/

Shikoku

AEON REIT’s Portfolio (As of July 31, 2015)

Portfolio

Property 
number

Property name
Acquisition 

date
Location

Acquisition price 
(Millions of yen) (Note 3)

Share of 
portfolio (%)

Appraisal value 
(Millions of yen)

Leasable area 
(m²)

SRSC-1 AEON LakeTown mori (Note 1) Nov. 2013 Koshigaya-shi, Saitama 21,190 10.9 23,000 160,387.00

SRSC-2 AEON LakeTown kaze (Note 1) Nov. 2013 Koshigaya-shi, Saitama 6,730 3.5 7,660 127,183.81

RSC-1 AEON MALL Morioka Nov. 2013 Morioka-shi, Iwate 5,340 2.7 5,590 98,968.59

RSC-2 AEON MALL Ishinomaki Nov. 2013 Ishinomaki-shi, Miyagi 6,680 3.4 7,020 60,682.20

RSC-3 AEON MALL Mitouchihara (Note 2) Nov. 2013 Mito-shi, Ibaraki 16,565 8.5 17,412 159,997.49

RSC-4 AEON MALL Ota Nov. 2013 Ota-shi, Gunma 6,860 3.5 7,820 93,165.27

RSC-5
AEON Sagamihara 
Shopping Center

Nov. 2013
Sagamihara-shi, 
Kanagawa

10,220 5.3 10,500 75,056.62

RSC-6 AEON MALL Ogaki Nov. 2013 Ogaki-shi, Gifu 4,950 2.5 5,160 64,246.26

RSC-7 AEON MALL Suzuka Nov. 2013 Suzuka-shi, Mie 9,660 5.0 10,100 125,236.10

RSC-8 AEON MALL Meiwa Nov. 2013 Taki-gun, Mie 3,290 1.7 3,620 44,193.80

RSC-9 AEON MALL Kasai-Hojo Nov. 2013 Kasai-shi, Hyogo 7,230 3.7 7,610 48,229.25

RSC-10 AEON MALL Hiezu Nov. 2013 Saihaku-gun, Tottori 7,780 4.0 8,320 102,045.24

RSC-11 AEON MALL Kurashiki Nov. 2013 Kurashiki-shi, Okayama 17,890 9.2 18,700 157,274.78

RSC-12 AEON MALL Ayagawa Nov. 2013 Ayauta-gun, Kagawa 8,740 4.5 9,190 113,149.07

RSC-13 AEON MALL Nogata Nov. 2013 Nogata-shi, Fukuoka 11,250 5.8 12,700 151,969.51

RSC-14 AEON MALL Kumamoto Nov. 2013
Kamimashiki-gun, 
Kumamoto

14,060 7.2 14,800 101,132.38

RSC-15 AEON MALL KYOTO Feb. 2015 Kyoto-shi, Kyoto 21,470 11.0 21,800 136,468.45

RSC-16 AEON MALL Sapporo-Hiraoka Feb. 2015 Sapporo-shi, Hokkaido 5,900 3.0 6,230 78,360.81

RSC-17 AEON MALL Kushiro-Showa Feb. 2015 Kushiro-shi, Hokkaido 1,780 0.9 1,900 51,763.05

RSC-18 AEON MALL Rifu Feb. 2015 Miyagi-gun, Miyagi 2,560 1.3 2,720 66,385.29

RSC-19 AEON MALL Yamagata-Minami Feb. 2015 Yamagata-shi, Yamagata 1,350 0.7 1,440 53,487.94

RSC-20 AEON MALL Yokkaichi-Kita Feb. 2015 Yokkaichi-shi, Mie 2,210 1.1 2,370 41,417.23

M-1
AEON Taman Universiti 
Shopping Centre

June 2014
Lot 49045, Mukim Pulai, 
Daerah Johor Bahru, 
Negeri Johor, Malaysia

658
RM 20 million (Note 4) 

0.3
649

RM 20 million (Note 5) 22,870.45

Total 194,363 206,311 2,133,670.59

Notes: 1.  “Acquisition price” and “Appraisal value” for AEON LakeTown mori and AEON LakeTown kaze present AEON REIT’s pro-rata portion of its respective quasi co-

ownership interests in the trust beneficiary rights (40% for each property).

 2.  This property includes, in addition to the trust beneficiary rights in real estate portion, a real estate portion (adjacent land portion that was additionally acquired on 

April 28, 2015; the acquisition price is ¥105 million and the assessed value at the end of the period is ¥112 million).

 3.  “Acquisition price” is the amount (the sale and purchase price, etc., shown on the sale and purchase agreement, etc.) excluding expenses incurred on the acquisi-

tion of each property (commission, taxes and dues, etc.).

 4.  RM refers to the Malaysian ringgit. The yen amount in “Acquisition price” represents the total sum of yen-denominated payments that AEON REIT actually 

made to AEON CO. (M) BHD. (excluding transaction fees and other various costs, rounded down to the nearest unit) through multiple transactions. The weighted 

average of exchange rates at each payment was ¥32.92 to RM 1, rounded down to two decimal places. 

5.  Appraisal value represents the amount equivalent to the Investment Corporation’s pro-rata portion of the rights (18.18%) similar to the co-ownership right (kyôyû-

mochibun) of the trust property pertaining to the trust of the trust beneficiary rights in real estate, and is based on the appraisal value as indicated on the appraisal 

report as of the valuation date of July 31, 2015. Assessed value is converted into Japanese yen based on the exchange rate as of the end of the fiscal period (July 

31, 2015; 1 RM= ¥32.49; rounded down to two decimal places).

Distribution of Portfolio (Based on acquisition price)
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Portfolio in Japan

ASEAN area

●
Prefectures with domestic properties

Currently held properties

AEON LakeTown moriAEON MALL Suzuka

AEON MALL Nogata

AEON LakeTown kazeAEON MALL Meiwa AEON MALL Mitouchihara

AEON MALL 
Yokkaichi-Kita

AEON MALL Kumamoto

AEON Sagamihara 
Shopping Center

AEON MALL OtaAEON MALL Ogaki

KantoTokai/Hokuriku/Chubu

Malaysia

Kyushu

AEON Taman Universiti Shopping Centre

Kinki/Chugoku/Shikoku

AEON MALL Kasai-Hojo AEON MALL Ayagawa

AEON MALL Hiezu

AEON MALL KYOTO

AEON MALL Kurashiki

AEON MALL Morioka AEON MALL Ishinomaki

AEON MALL Rifu

Hokkaido/Tohoku

Portfolio Overseas

AEON MALL 
Sapporo-Hiraoka

AEON MALL 
Yamagata-Minami

AEON MALL 
Kushiro-Showa
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Investment to increase revenue Measures to ensure a stable 
financial base

Capital strategies that protect 
unitholder interests

 Appropriation of funds to 
acquire new properties

Repayment of interest-bearing 
debt to reduce cost of debt

Distributions in excess of 
retained earnings

Investment in property 
revitalization to increase 

revenue and competitiveness

Increased capital efficiency 
through unit buy-backs

Growth driven by efficient use of capital

2. A Stable Financial Base

AEON REIT operates according to clear financial policies to maintain and improve its strong financial base. 

These policies include a target loan-to-value (LTV)* ratio; a high ratio of long-term debt to total debt, which is 

currently 97.3 percent; a high ratio of fixed-rate debt to total debt, which is currently 84.5 percent; and diversifi-

cation of lenders.

(1) Financial Policies

LTV Maintain an LTV ratio of about 50 percent, with an upper limit of 60 percent

Extended loan maturities 

and fixed interest rates

Commit to loan maturities according to cash flow conditions based on tenant lease terms 

and content.

Bank formation Diversify lenders with a focus on megabanks

*LTV: (Interest-bearing debt + Leasehold and security deposits) ÷ Total assets × 100

Growth Fundamentals

1. Strategic Cash Management

Many large-scale retail properties are located in suburbs, and therefore have a shorter depreciation schedule 

than office or residential properties because building value accounts for a greater proportion of the real 

estate value. Consequently, depreciation expenses tend to be greater relative to real estate value. AEON REIT 

enhances capital efficiency, stabilizes cash flow, and increases unitholder value over the medium-to-long 

term by providing an amount equivalent to depreciation expenses to internal reserves from which it periodi-

cally makes optimal distributions according to circumstances.

We have clear fi nancial policies to ensure a stable fi nancial 

base and deploy capital strategically.

Effective and Efficient Financial Management
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(2) Debt (As of July 31, 2015)   

Type Lenders
Amount (Billions of yen)

Borrowing date Due date Average interest rate
Breakdown

Short-term

Syndicated loans 

arranged by 

Mizuho Bank, Ltd.; 

Sumitomo Mitsui 

Banking 

Corporation; or 

Sumitomo Mitsui 

Trust Bank, 

Limited(Note 1)

2.0 2.0
February 27, 2015 

(Initial borrowing term 8 months)
October 20, 2015

Floating 

(base rate(Note 2) +0.25%)

Long-term 73.4

9.0
November 25, 2013 

(Initial borrowing term 3 years)
October 20, 2016

Floating 

(base rate(Note 2) +0.25%)

27.0
November 25, 2013 

(Initial borrowing term 5 years)
October 22, 2018

Effective fixed rate(Note 3)  

0.78125%

22.0
November 25, 2013 

(Initial borrowing term 7 years)
October 20, 2020

Effective fixed rate(Note 3) 

1.17250%

5.0
November 25, 2013 

(Initial borrowing term 10 years)
October 20, 2023

Effective fixed rate(Note 3)  

1.76375%

0.7
February 27, 2015 

(Initial borrowing term 2 years and 8 months)
October 20, 2017

Floating 

(base rate(Note 2) +0.25%)

1.2
February 27, 2015 

(Initial borrowing term 4 years and 8 months)
October 21, 2019

Effective fixed rate(Note 3) 

0.61910%

4.0
February 27, 2015 

(Initial borrowing term 6 years and 8 months)
October 20, 2021

Effective fixed rate(Note 3) 

0.88915%

4.5
February 27, 2015 

(Initial borrowing term 9 years and 8 months)
October 21, 2024

Effective fixed rate(Note 3) 

1.40390%

Notes:  1.  Syndicated lenders consist of Mizuho Bank, Ltd., Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation, Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank, Limited, The Bank of 

Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd., The Norinchukin Bank, Mizuho Trust & Banking Co., Ltd., Mitsubishi UFJ Trust and Banking Corporation, Resona 

Bank, Limited, AEON BANK, LTD., Development Bank of Japan Inc., The Hyakugo Bank, Ltd., The Hiroshima Bank, Ltd., The Mie Bank, Ltd., The 

77 Bank Ltd. and the Chiba Bank, Ltd.

 2. Refers to the Japanese Yen TIBOR released by the Japanese Bankers Association; provided, however, that if there is no corresponding time 

period, it refers to the interest rate reasonably set by the agent using the straight-line method.

 3.  While funds are borrowed at floating rates, the interest rates are fixed in effect by entering into interest rate swap agreements to hedge interest 

rate fluctuation risk. The figures are the interest rates calculated after taking into consideration the effect of interest rate swaps.

(3) New Debt Financing

We procured capital in the amount of ¥12.4 billion on February 27, 2015 through new debt financing in the form 

of syndicated loans arranged by Mizuho Bank, Ltd., Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation and Sumitomo Mitsui 

Trust Bank, Limited in order to appropriate a portion of the funds for new capital acquisitions.

(5) Acquisition of Credit Rating

As of the date of this publication, AEON REIT had 

received a long-term issuer rating of AA- from 

Japan Credit Rating Agency, Ltd.

(4) Distribution of Maturities

As shown below in the distribution of maturities, we borrow at long-term, fixed interest rates and disperse the 

terms of repayment.

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025

¥9.0

¥2.0 ¥0.7 ¥1.2
¥4.0

¥27.0

¥22.0

¥5.0 ¥4.5

■ Borrowings as of July 31, 2015（Billions of yen）

Japan Credit Rating 

Agency, Ltd. AA−
(Stable)
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1. Transparent Decision-Making Process

For asset acquisitions from the AEON Group or any other related-party transaction, the decision-making pro-

cess includes a mechanism to incorporate the opinions of independent third parties having no relationship 

with the AEON Group as shown below.

We are deepening collaboration with the AEON Group 

and structuring management to make decisions that are 

appropriate for growth over the medium-to-long term.

Chiyu Abo Kenji Kawahara Yoko Seki

Supervisory 

Director

Executive Director

AEON REIT 

Investment Corporation

Supervisory 

Director

Drafting of 
proposal by the 

responsible 
department

Deliberation and 
resolution by the 

Investment 
Committee*

Deliberation and 
resolution by the 

Compliance 
Committee*

Approval by 
Board of 
Directors

*An outside expert must attend the meeting 
and agree in order for the resolution to pass.

Disapproved

Dropped or instructions given to modify content Returned

Dropped or instructions 
given to modify content

STOP STOP

Approval by 
the Compliance 

Officer

Report to the 
Asset Manager’s 

Board of 
Directors

Highly Transparent Management Structure
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2.  Unit Ownership by AEON CO., LTD. and Co-Ownership of Properties 
with the AEON Group

AEON CO., LTD. carefully considers acquiring a portion of any new issue of units by AEON REIT, and main-

tains its holdings of AEON REIT units at the fixed percentage of 19.9 percent of total units issued. AEON REIT 

may engage in strategic co-ownership (including quasi co-ownership) of properties with AEON Group compa-

nies based on the sponsor support and pipeline support agreements after considering portfolio diversity and 

the particular features of properties.

3. Introduction of an Asset Management Fee Structure Linked to Distribution per Unit

AEON REIT is introducing an asset management fee structure linked to distribution per unit for its Asset 

Manager, AEON Reit Management Co., Ltd. The structure should synergistically enhance AEON REIT’s value.

Asset management fee structure Calculation method

Asset management fees

Asset management fee I Total assets x 0.3%(Note 1) x (asset management days ÷ 365)

Asset management fee II
Distribution per unit before subtraction of asset management 

fee II x NOI(Note 2) x 0.001%(Note 1) (Rounded down to the nearest yen)

Acquisition fee
Acquisition payment x 0.5%(Note 1) 

(Related-party transaction: acquisition payment x 0.25%)

Disposition fee
Disposition receipts x 0.5%(Note 1) 

(Related-party transaction: no disposition fee)

Notes: 1. Each rate shown above represents the maximum rate in each fee category.

 2. In the above table, net operating income (NOI) refers to real estate rental revenue for the relevant fiscal period less real estate leasing expenses 

(excluding depreciation and losses on disposal of fixed assets).

 3. The above fee structure is as of July 31, 2015.

4. Our Policy for Compensation

Our articles of incorporation provide that we may pay our executive director up to ¥1 million per month and each 

of our supervisory directors up to ¥1 million per month. Our Board of Directors is responsible for determining 

a reasonable compensation amount for our executive director and each of our supervisory directors, taking 

into account general price movements and wage movements. We do not have any unit-based compensation plan.

Currently, our executive director is not receiving any compensation from us (although he, in his capacity as 

the Representative Director, President and Chief Executive Office of the Asset Manager, receives compensa-

tion from the Asset Manager).
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5.  Remuneration Policy for the Asset Manager’s Directors, Corporate 
Auditors and Employees

1.  Remuneration for Asset Manager Directors

(1) The Board of Directors approves remuneration for directors within the limits for total remuneration for 

directors authorized by the General Meeting of Shareholders.

(2) Remuneration for individual directors is determined through comprehensive assessment that includes 

corporate performance, individual evaluation and other circumstances.

(3) Remuneration for directors is structured as follows (except for outside directors, who receive only base 

remuneration and do not receive any performance-based remuneration or prepaid retirement allowances):

1) Base remuneration: Determined individually within standard amounts based on position and rank.

2) Performance-based remuneration: Determined within a range of 0 percent to 200 percent of the stan-

dard amount according to corporate performance during the relevant fiscal period and individual 

assessment (e.g., performance for which the director is responsible, degree to which targets were 

achieved, relative difficulty of responsibilities, and importance of responsibilities). One hundred percent 

of the standard amount is paid upon achievement of targets set at the beginning of the fiscal period.

3) Prepaid retirement allowance: Determined based on the following formula that applies a coefficient 

based on position and rank to base remuneration. 

 Prepaid retirement allowance (monthly payment) = Base remuneration x coefficient ÷ 12 (rounded to 

the nearest thousand yen)

2.  Remuneration for Asset Manager Corporate Auditors

(1) Remuneration for corporate auditors is determined by resolution of the General Meeting of Shareholders.

(2) Corporate auditors may express opinions, if any, regarding matters including remuneration for corporate 

auditors as needed to the Board of Directors and the General Meeting of Shareholders.

3.  Remuneration for Asset Manager Employees

(1) Employees of the Asset Manager receive remuneration according to their relative contribution to and 

expectations for the achievement of management targets.

(2) Remuneration, methods of calculation and payment, timing of payment, and increases in remuneration are 

determined according to compensation rules.

(3) Monthly remuneration is composed of job-based pay, merit pay and adjustments. Employees may receive 

increases or reductions after twelve months of their current job-based and merit pay based on personnel 

evaluations during the year.  Such increases or decreases will be set based on a pay table determined for 

each job category.

(4) Bonuses are calculated based on sales and performance, and are determined after deliberation by the 

Board of Directors. Bonuses take into account issues including qualifications (pay grades), personnel eval-

uations, performance, and attendance.
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Remuneration for Asset Manager Directors and Corporate Auditors

March 1, 2014 to February 28, 2015

Directors Corporate auditors Total

Number of 
person(s) 

remunerated
Remuneration

Number of 
person(s) 

remunerated
Remuneration

Number of 
person(s) 

remunerated
Remuneration

Remuneration based on Articles of 

Incorporation and resolutions of 

the General Meeting of 

Shareholders

4 ¥77 million 1 ¥2 million 5 ¥79 million 
(Notes 1-3)

Notes: 1. Remuneration for directors is as per the Companies Act of Japan, Article 361, Paragraph 1, Item 1.

 2.  Annual remuneration is limited to ¥500 million for directors and ¥100 million for corporate auditors, as per the Extraordinary General Meeting of 

Shareholders held on August 28, 2012.

 3.  AEON Reit Management Co., Ltd. had seven directors and one corporate auditor as of February 28, 2015. Three directors received no compensa-

tion, which accounts for the discrepancy with persons remunerated above. The other four directors who received compensation constitute the 

Asset Manager’s senior management.

Remuneration for Asset Manager Employees

March 1, 2014 to February 28, 2015

All employees

Number of employees

Remuneration

Total Fixed Variable (Note)

Remuneration based on 

compensation rules
25 ¥211 million ¥177 million ¥34 million

Note: Please refer to “3. Remuneration for Asset Manager Employees (4)” on how variable remuneration is determined.

The Asset Manager also introduced a unit ownership plan for directors and employees in May 2014.

The plan will keep directors and employees focused on AEON REIT’s unit price and improving performance, with the 

objective of maximizing unitholder value by giving directors and employees an economic incentive to serve unitholder 

interests by increasing unit price.

There are potential conflicts of interest between AEON REIT and the Asset Manager with respect to remuneration for 

the Asset Manager's directors, corporate auditors and employees. We believe that the above remuneration policy miti-

gates such potential conflicts. In addition, the Asset Manager has adopted an internal set of rules that apply to all related-

party transactions, such as transactions between AEON REIT and the Asset Manager. These rules require strict 

compliance by the Asset Manager with laws and regulations regarding related-party transactions. They also contain 

specific procedures to be followed in the event of a transaction that involves a related party, in order to implement 

arm's length terms.
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 MALL Ota

 MALL Ayagawa

 MALL Sapporo-Hiraoka
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 MALL Ogaki

 MALL Kasai-Hojo

Awards

• “Gold” certification based on the SMBC 

Sustainable Building Assessment Loan

 MALL Yamagata-Minami
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1. Investment Policies

1) Basic Philosophy of AEON REIT

AEON REIT Investment Corporation 

(“AEON REIT”) intends to invest 

primarily in real property-related 

assets that consist of, or are 

backed by, properties that are or 

can be used as retail and related 

properties(Note 1) (including when 

multiple properties are developed 

or utilized in an integrated manner).

Note 1: The term “retail properties” refers 

to retail, logistics, and related prop-

erties.

We intend to invest primarily in 

retail and related properties that 

are an integral part of the 

communities in which they are 

located. We believe that these 

properties and facilities in which 

we plan to invest form the back-

bone of local communities and 

their retail business infrastruc-

ture. We also aim to ensure stable 

income in the medium-to-long 

term and achieve steady portfo-

lio growth by investing in retail 

and related properties that con-

tribute to betterment of individual 

lives and local communities.

Our sponsor, AEON CO., LTD. 

(“AEON” or “Sponsor”), is the parent 

company of the Asset Manager. 

AEON is a corporate group struc-

tured as a holding company called 

the AEON Group.(Note 2)  

Note 2: The AEON Group consists of a pure 

holding company, AEON CO., LTD. 

(head office: Mihama-ku, Chiba-

shi, Chiba), 284 consolidated sub-

sidiaries and 31 equity-method 

affiliates (as of February 28, 2015).

The AEON Group aims to enable 

peaceful, prosperous living to 

grow in cooperation with the 

people living in the communities 

it serves through retail business 

infrastructure that forms the 

backbone of local communities. 

With a basic philosophy that 

helping the AEON Group grow 

will help AEON REIT grow, AEON 

REIT invests primarily in retail 

and related properties operated 

by the AEON Group.

2) Portfolio Composition Policy

AEON REIT bases portfolio 

composition on the following 

policies.

1. Investment Area

Based on our Articles of 

Incorporation provisions and the 

management guidelines of our 

Asset Manager, we invest primarily 

in Japan and overseas(Note 3) as well.

Note 3: The guidelines of AEON REIT’s 

Asset Manager stipulate that AEON 

REIT shall invest in Japan and 

overseas, and that overseas invest-

ments will primarily focus on the 

target areas of Malaysia, other 

ASEAN countries, and China, along 

with other countries with growing 

populations where economic devel-

opment is expected over the medium-

to-long term (Article of Incorporation 

28, Paragraph 3).

A. Investments in Japan

We invest primarily in retail and 

related properties operated by 

the AEON Group in Japan.

We do so because of our focus 

on the strong earnings base and 

stable growth potential of vari-

ous retail and related properties 

that the AEON Group has already 

constructed. The AEON Group 

developed its retail business 

based on its corporate philoso-

phy of “pursuing peace, respect-

ing humanity, and contributing to 

local communities.” In addition, 

the AEON Group regards the 

retail business as a local indus-

try that is rooted in and grows 

with the community because the 

retail business is able to create 

sites and neighborhoods.

In accordance with the basic 

philosophy above, in principle 

AEON REIT will acquire assets in 

Japan with a policy of selectively 

investing in retail and related 

properties operated by the AEON 

Group in established commercial 

areas that are closely related to 

the community and that help 

maximize our unitholder value. 

In addition, AEON REIT will 

invest throughout Japan to construct 

a geographically diversified 

portfolio that is not concentrated 

in any one area.

B. Investments overseas

As presented in A. Investments 

in Japan above, AEON REIT 

primarily invests in Japan. We 

are also selectively considering 

investment in AEON Group retail 

properties overseas because we 

anticipate that the retail and 

related properties the AEON 

Group develops in countries and 

regions that are expected to 

develop economically over the 

medium-to-long term will gener-

ate stable cash flow.

With this in mind, our target 

investment areas are Malaysia 

and other ASEAN countries,(Note 4) 

China, and other countries with 

growing populations where eco-

nomic development is expected 

over the medium-to-long term. 

We will determine the retail 

properties to be acquired upon 

careful consideration of factors 

Investment Policy / Distribution Policy
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including population dynamics, 

economic growth, country risks, 

laws, tax regulations, political 

systems and cultural compatibility 

in the relevant country or area.

Note 4: Indonesia, Malaysia, the 

Philippines, Singapore, Thailand, 

Brunei, Vietnam, Laos, Myanmar 

and Cambodia constitute the 

ASEAN region.

2. Investment Targets and Ratios

AEON REIT will invest in the fol-

lowing types of retail and other 

properties. Real estate in Japan 

will account for 85 percent or 

more of our portfolio, and over-

seas real estate will account for 

15 percent or less. Moreover, 

investments in large-scale retail 

properties will constitute 80 

percent or more of our portfolio. 

However, we will review these 

ratios as our portfolio expands.

A. Retail properties in Japan

(i) Target Investments

We will primarily invest in retail 

properties operated by the AEON 

Group in Japan. We believe that 

retail property size is positively 

correlated with customer traffic 

and a large floor space allows 

flexibility when dividing the retail 

area into sections. We therefore 

plan to invest mainly in large-

scale retail properties that have 

few or no nearby competitors 

and a comparative advantage in 

various locations. 

Furthermore, the AEON Group 

is a retail industry leader in 

establishing an advanced supply 

chain utilizing its own logistics 

facilities to support the operation 

of retail properties and the rest 

of its retail business. We will 

also invest in logistics facilities 

that are closely related to the 

AEON Group’s retail business.

(ii) Investment Percentage

Of the property types shown 

above, we categorize SRSCs, 

RSCs and CSCs as large-scale 

retail properties, which will 

account for 80 percent or more 

of our portfolio based on acqui-

sition price. Logistics facilities 

will account for not more than 10 

percent of our portfolio based on 

acquisition price.

B. Overseas retail properties: 

the first J-REIT to invest in 

properties outside Japan

(i) Target Investments

In principle, AEON REIT will min-

imize the risks of investing in 

areas outside Japan by investing 

in retail and other properties 

that we will lease entirely to the 

AEON Group under a master 

lease agreement that ensures 

the AEON Group can and will 

manage and operate it.

In addition, we will carefully 

assess potential investments by 

reviewing the risks specific to 

overseas properties, including 

(1) country risk, (2) operational 

risk, and (3) currency risk, by 

considering the compatibility of 

laws, accounting and tax systems 

in Japan and overseas while also 

considering factors including 

political and economic trends.

(ii) Investment Percentage

The overseas retail and other 

properties in which we invest 

shall account for not more than 

15 percent of our portfolio on an 

acquisition price basis.

Type

Investment Percentage*

Domestic Real 

Estate

Overseas Real 

Estate

85% or more 15% or less

Large-scale 

retail properties

Super regional 

shopping centers 

(SRSC)

80% or more
Regional shop-

ping centers (RSC)

Community 

shopping centers 

(CSC)

Other retail 

properties

Neighborhood 

shopping centers 

(NSC) 20% or less

Supermarkets 

(SM)

Logistics facilities 10% or less

*Investment percentage is calculated on an acquisition price basis. Acquisition and disposi-

tion of real estate and related assets may result in short-term variance with the above 

ratios. The same shall apply hereafter. 
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3) Investment Guidelines

AEON REIT will acquire proper-

ties in Japan and overseas 

according to the following invest-

ment guidelines.

1. Location

AEON REIT will invest through-

out Japan to construct a geo-

graphically diversified portfolio 

that is not concentrated in any 

one area.

Overseas, we will invest in the 

ASEAN region, China and other 

countries and regions with grow-

ing populations where economic 

development is expected over the 

medium-to-long term.

2. Investment Amount

In principle, investment amount 

per property shall be ¥500 million 

or more (acquisition price 

excluding consumption or other 

taxes). In principle, investment 

amount per property overseas 

shall be ¥500 million or more 

when converted into yen at the 

time of acquisition. 

3. Acquisition Price

Investment decisions shall involve 

comprehensive deliberations that 

are based on our valuation of 

properties and take appraisal 

values into consideration. 

In the case of a related-party 

transaction, the property must 

be acquired at or lower than the 

appraisal value (excluding taxes, 

brokerage fees, acquisition 

costs, costs for creating trusts, 

reserved funds in trust 

accounts, income from trusts, 

periodic settlements such as 

fixed asset taxes, and other 

miscellaneous expenses). 

This also applies to acquisi-

tions of overseas assets.

4. Seismic Review

In principle, we shall invest in 

properties that have been 

constructed, reinforced or other-

wise modified to meet applicable 

new earthquake resistance 

building codes (which are based 

on the Building Standards Act; 

1950, Law No. 201; as amended 

in 1981) or have been deemed to 

have seismic capacity equivalent 

thereto. In the case of invest-

ments overseas, we will determine 

the properties to be acquired 

based on a comprehensive judg-

ment taking into account the 

practical operations in the rele-

vant country or area, in addition 

to compliance with standards 

under applicable laws and 

regulations.

5. Earthquake Probable Maximum 

Loss (PML)

In principle, we shall invest so 

that overall PML(Note 5) of our port-

folio in Japan does not exceed 10 

percent. We shall consider 

taking out earthquake insurance 

if we acquire a property with a 

PML that exceeds 15 percent. 

For overseas assets, we will 

comply with the earthquake 

resistance standards under 

applicable national or regional 

laws, and shall make investment 

decisions based on comprehen-

sive deliberations that take into 

account the ability to obtain PML 

values in the region, the avail-

ability of earthquake insurance, 

and local practices.

Note 5: PML indicates the level of damage 

that may result from an earthquake 

of the assumed maximum size 

(major earthquake that occurs once 

every 475 years = major earthquake 

with a 10% probability of occurring 

within 50 years, or a probability of 

0.211 percent) for the assumed 

scheduled use period (50 years = 

the useful life of a general building) 

expressed as a ratio of the replace-

ment cost to the estimated expenses 

required to restore the damaged 

property to its pre-earthquake condi-

tion. However, the estimated loss 

only includes damage the earth-

quake causes directly to the build-

ing itself (structure, finishing, 

architectural equipment), and does 

not include damage to equipment, 

furniture and fixtures; losses 

caused by water or fire after the 

earthquake; compensation for vic-

tims; or collateral damage such as 

loss of sales caused by disruption 

of sales activities. The same 

applies hereafter. We will make 

investment decisions using alter-

native standards in the absence of 

PML regulations and standards in 

countries or regions overseas.

6. Insurance Coverage Policy

We will take out necessary fire 

and casualty insurance for port-

folio assets to cover the risks of 

damage to properties from fire 

or accident and demands for 

compensatory damages from 

third parties. 

As presented in 5. Earthquake 

Probable Maximum Loss (PML) 

above, we will comprehensively 

consider earthquake insurance if 

PML for a specific property 

exceeds 15 percent, taking into 

account the impact on the prop-

erty and the portfolio as a whole 

in the event of an earthquake as 

well as the feasibility of obtain-

ing earthquake coverage.

7. Environmental and Geological 

Conditions

In principle, we shall invest in 

properties for which the treat-

ment and storage of asbestos 
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and other hazardous substances 

within the buildings or the 

appearance and condition of soil 

within the premises meets the 

requirements under the Air 

Pollution Control Act and the 

Soil Contamination 

Countermeasures Act of Japan 

and other environmental laws 

and ordinances or for which rel-

evant countermeasures have 

otherwise been taken. However, 

we may acquire properties when 

we can expect prompt corrective 

action after acquisition. For 

overseas assets, we will make 

investment decisions based on 

comprehensive deliberation that 

takes into account practical 

operations in the relevant coun-

try or area, in addition to compliance 

with environmental, geological 

and other standards under appli-

cable laws and regulations.

8. Tenants

In principle, we shall confirm the 

social credibility of potential ten-

ants and their economic viability 

by evaluating and analyzing data 

such as rent rates, lease terms, 

tenant businesses, and competi-

tiveness. This applies to assets 

both in Japan and overseas.

9. Property Rights

In principle, we shall confirm 

ownership, leasing, surface and 

other property rights. For shared 

or leased properties, we shall 

comprehensively consider prop-

erty characteristics to confirm 

that owners of such property 

rights have no issues (e.g. credit-

worthiness and reputation) and 

that the property has few or no 

restrictions on or risks to opera-

tions, management or assign-

ment. For overseas assets, we 

will make investment decisions 

based on comprehensive delib-

eration that takes into account 

practical operations in the rele-

vant country or area, after inves-

tigating the property-related 

rights in the relevant country or 

area.

10. Investment in Properties with 

Stable Operations

In principle, AEON REIT will 

ensure stable cash flow by 

investing largely in real estate 

that generates stable cash flow, 

and will not invest in real estate 

such as non-operating proper-

ties that are not generating cash 

flow because they are under 

development.

However, we may selectively 

decide to invest in properties 

that have experienced a short-

term decline in occupancy rate 

in instances such as when we 

anticipate a swift increase in 

future occupancy rate and when 

we expect to collaborate with 

the AEON Group as a tenant 

opening stores and in leasing. 

We will do so after careful delib-

eration. The same applies to 

overseas assets.

4)  Due Diligence Guidelines

Prior to investment in a property, 

the Asset Manager will conduct 

economic, physical and legal 

due diligence, generally covering 

the following topics. The Asset 

Manager will consider the 

appropriateness of the property 

by determining and evaluating 

issues such as factors that may 

inhibit the maintenance and 

improvement of asset value. 

To this end, the Asset Manager 

will consult engineering reports, 

market reports and earthquake 

risk-assessments prepared by 

third parties with research 

capacity and expertise, and con-

duct on-site investigation and 

hearings with scheduled assign-

ees and others. 

For investments in overseas 

properties, the Asset Manager 

will conduct due diligence(Note 6) 

using the same guidelines that 

are applicable to investments in 

Japan, taking into account the 

legal system and any special 

circumstances in the relevant 

country or area. 

Note 6: Due diligence for overseas real 

estate shall include the items in 

the table below and also review of 

connections with roads and the 

supply of public services (e.g., 

water, gas, and sewage disposal 

services).
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Economic, Physical and Legal Due Diligence of Properties

Economic 

due 

diligence

Tenant evaluation

• Tenant (and sublessees when needed; applicable to the following) creditworthiness 

(including business, operations, history, financial results and financial condition)

• Status of tenant rent payments, existence of any disputes between the tenant and 

the current owner, or any possibility thereof

• Purpose of the lease, structure of the lease agreement, terms and conditions of the 

lease agreement and whether it permits assignment

• Past occupancy rates and rent

• The percentage of each building that each existing tenant occupies and tenant 

distribution

Market analysis

• Commercial area (population, number of households, commercial index)

• Review of market rental rates and occupancy rates of similar properties in the 

surrounding area

• Status of potential competing properties in the surrounding area

• Plans for the development of new properties in the surrounding area

• Tenant demand trends

• Potential for attracting new tenants

• Potential for property disposition (sale)

• For overseas properties: review economic trends, political trends, business 

practices, and other issues

Revenues 

• Current lease structure and stability of rent

• Variance between current and market rent and outlook

• Potential for tenant relocation and ease of finding replacement tenants

• Outlook for issues such as gaining or losing tenants and rent decreases

• Medium- and long-term leasing policies of the property manager and the master 

lessee

Expenses

• Potential for changes in taxes and public charges (e.g., expiration of tax abatement 

period, increase in valuation due to factors including redevelopment progress)

• Structure of outsourced property management agreements, level of management 

provided by the property manager, appropriateness of management fees

• Structure of outsourced building management agreements, level of management 

provided by the building manager, appropriateness of management fees

• Cost of utilities and utility reimbursements from tenants

• Estimated responsibility for and appropriateness of repair and renewal expenses 

based on historical and planned repairs and current state of disrepair

• Status of reserve fund for repairs and the appropriateness of the amount of such 

fund (stratified ownership of a building, etc.)

Physical 

due 

diligence

Location

• Circumstances of streets and access to main highways

• Convenience of railways and other public transport

• Status of surrounding land; history of floods, fires and other disasters

• Location and proximity of convenient facilities and public facilities in the surrounding 

area

• Name recognition, reputation and size of the relevant area

• Stability and growth potential of the commercial area; competitive situation; status 

of development of surrounding areas; potential for conversion of purpose (in the 

case of retail properties)

Building, facility 

and specifications 

analysis

• Design, main structure, building age, architect and construction company, confirma-

tion and inspection organization, etc.

• Internal and external condition of the property

• Leasable area, ceiling height, air conditioning, floor weight capacity, security sys-

tems, electric power capacity, lighting intensity, layout compatible with plotting 

lease, disaster prevention equipment, water supply and drainage facilities, elevating 

machines, parking lot and other common facilities

32



Physical 

due 

diligence

Building review

• Document review including design documents, building certification documents, 

inspection documents

• On-site inspection of outdoor facilities, rooftop, exterior finish, facilities, etc.

• Review and verification of long-term repair plan set out in the engineering report

• Status of compliance with applicable laws and regulations including the Building 

Standards Act and the City Planning Act of Japan (Law No. 100 of 1968, as amended)

• Seismic capacity (seismic capacity that meets new earthquake resistance building 

codes or equivalent)

• Verification of earthquake PML

Building 

management

• Terms and conditions of the outsourced building management agreements (including 

structure and specification standards); status of management of buildings; inter-

views with the building management company and others

• Existence and content of detailed building management rules; quality and creditwor-

thiness of the management companies

Environmental due 

diligence

• History and status of use and storage of asbestos, PCBs and other hazardous 

substances

• Issues including geological conditions, land use history, and soil contamination

Legal due 

diligence

Legal restrictions 

and compliance

• Whether properties are in compliance with applicable laws and regulations

• Existence of building, application or use restrictions due to building codes, regula-

tions, agreements, or other applicable legal restrictions

Boundary survey

• Property boundaries; existence and status of encroachments

• Determination of actual measured area

• Existence of boundary disputes

Tenant analysis
• Review of lease agreements, sublease agreements, use agreements, etc.

• Existence of disputes with tenants

Property rights 

related investigation

• Confirmation of property rights related to land and buildings, including ownership 

rights, surface rights, lease rights, co-ownership rights, stratified ownership rights 

and stratified co-ownership rights; review of various agreements and other docu-

mentation incidental to such property rights

• Existence of disputes with owners of adjacent property rights

• Conditions of trust agreements

5) Standards for Outsourcing to 

Third Parties and Assessments 

by Third Parties

Based on our management 

guidelines, we have adopted 

standards for outsourcing and 

assessments to maintain the 

quality of outsourced services 

and order placement, for the fair 

selection of service providers 

and suppliers, and for renewing 

service provider contracts in 

Japan. As a general rule, however, 

we shall not outsource asset 

management services, which 

have been entrusted to the Asset 

Manager. For overseas proper-

ties, we comply with statutory 

standards in the relevant country 

or region, and we base our 

decision whether and to what 

extent to outsource a service on 

a comprehensive consideration 

of practices in each region. 

1. Outsourcing Standards for Each 

Type of Outsourced Service

Services are outsourced to service 

providers that satisfy specific 

standards to maintain designated 

quality levels for service imple-

mentation and service experience 

and performance according to 

the particular requirements of 

the outsourced services.

Specifically, for outsourced 

property management services 

we generally review the service 

provider’s (1) scale; (2) ability to 

perform the services; (3) compli-

ance with laws and regulations; 

and (4) cost. For property man-

agement service providers out-

side of Japan, we do not take (1) 

scale into consideration. For real 

estate appraisal services, due 

diligence, and engineering 

reports, we review the service 

provider’s (1) scale; (2) ability to 

perform the services; (3) compli-

ance with laws and regulations; 

and (4) any history of misconduct 

on the part of the service 

provider. For providers of real 
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estate appraisal services, due 

diligence, and engineering 

reports outside of Japan, we do 

not take (1) scale into consideration.

2. Outsourcing Conditions

When AEON REIT and the Asset 

Manager outsource services, the 

service providers are responsible 

for establishing the appropriate 

mechanisms to provide services 

and report to us, to maintain 

confidentiality, and to cooperate 

with ongoing monitoring efforts. 

However, contracted items are 

negotiable. The responsibilities 

and duties of the service provid-

ers are specified in service 

outsourcing agreements.

6) Forward Commitment 

Policies(Note 7)

We may enter into contracts to 

acquire properties under which 

the settlement of the contract 

occurs one or more months fol-

lowing the execution of the con-

tract. Before making a decision 

to enter into any such contract, 

we will carefully consider the 

following:

• contract termination penalties 

contained in the contract, the 

impact of any such contracts on 

our overall portfolio profits and 

our level of cash distributions 

(including the delisting standard 

of the Tokyo Stock Exchange)

•  the time period between the 

execution and settlement of the 

contract, potential market risks 

caused by changes during this 

period in financial and real 

estate market conditions, and 

method for funding settlement.

Note 7: The purchase agreements for the 

overseas properties we intend to 

acquire are forward commitment 

contracts. We determine the advisability 

of executing these agreements after 

individually considering the risks 

associated with executing them.

7) Operation and Property 

Management Policies

We follow the policies and stan-

dards set forth below in operat-

ing and managing assets 

acquired in Japan. The standards 

for operating and managing 

assets acquired overseas will be 

based on, and generally be the 

same as, the standards used in 

Japan.

1. Basic Policy

Our goal is to achieve stable 

earnings over the medium-to-

long term, maintain and improve 

the value of our portfolio, and 

enhance tenant satisfaction. We 

will therefore maintain and 

increase rental revenue and 

occupancy rate, conduct appro-

priate management and repair, 

and optimize management costs 

and raise efficiency based on the 

approaches below.

2. Adoption of Asset Management 

Plan

The Asset Manager will establish 

an asset management plan for 

the management and operation 

of our operating properties in 

accordance with the Asset 

Manager’s internal rules, such 

as its asset management guide-

lines, and will manage and operate 

such properties in accordance 

with such plan. The asset 

management plan will provide 

concrete management and 

operation plans for our operating 

properties. It will consist of (1) 

income and expense plans for each 

of our portfolio properties; (2) an 

income and expense plan for the 

company as a whole that is based 

on those for each property; and 

(3) other plans. The asset man-

agement plan will be reviewed 

for adoption by the Investment 

Committee following approval by 

the Compliance Officer. 

The asset management plan 

will also be reviewed for adop-

tion by the Compliance Committee 

after approval by the Investment 

Committee if deemed necessary 

by the Compliance Officer.

In principle, formulating the 

asset management plan above 

will involve the review of detailed 

information for each of our oper-

ating properties in cooperation 

with the support companies and 

the property manager.

In principle, the asset manage-

ment plan will be reviewed every 

fiscal period and amended as 

appropriate, and may be amended 

from time to time as necessary.

3. Leasing Policy

When we acquire retail and 

related properties operated by 

the AEON Group, our basic policy 

will be to enter into a master 

lease agreement for the entire 

property with an AEON Group 

company as the lessee at the 

time of acquisition. The policy 

will be the same for assets 

acquired overseas.

We will utilize property manag-

ers to the maximum extent 

possible, share information with 

the master lessee, survey and 
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identify market trends, and 

investigate appropriate leasing 

terms for individual properties.

When entering into lease 

agreements with the master 

lessees, the Asset Manager will 

confirm the creditworthiness of 

the master lessees, check for 

relationships with anti-social 

forces including end tenants, 

and make comprehensive deter-

minations concerning the 

possibility of lease renewals.

4. Policies Concerning Selection 

of Property Managers and 

Monitoring

We will select property managers 

that we believe can contribute to 

raising our overall profitability. 

We will take into consideration 

the property manager’s real 

estate operation and manage-

ment experience and capabili-

ties, performance with the target 

property, feasibility of carrying 

out operations in accordance 

with the operating plan, cost lev-

els, continuity of operations, and 

other relevant factors.

To carry out the above policy 

on an even higher level, we will 

outsource property management 

services to the AEON Group 

when we determine that the 

AEON Group would be appropri-

ate as the property manager for 

the relevant retail and related 

properties.

In such cases, we will periodi-

cally assess the level of services, 

compensation amounts, and 

other factors relating to the out-

sourced services in accordance 

with the Rules on Transactions 

with Interested Parties and the 

Outsourcing and Evaluation 

Standards, and if we determine 

that the performance of appro-

priate services and compensa-

tion levels cannot be maintained, 

we will then consider the cancel-

lation or non-renewal of the 

agreement. For additional 

details, please refer to 5) 

Standards for Outsourcing to 

Third Parties and Assessments 

by Third Parties; 1. Outsourcing 

Standards for Each Type of 

Outsourced Service above.

5. Policies Relating to Repairs and 

Capital Expenditures

We will make repairs and capital 

expenditures needed to maintain 

and enhance the profitability of 

investment assets over the 

medium-to-long term after con-

sulting with the property manag-

er, taking into consideration the 

condition and attributes of the 

investment asset, tenant needs, 

and other factors.

We will generally take the 

depreciation expenses of the 

entire portfolio into consideration 

when making decisions about 

repairs and capital expenditures. 

We will promptly implement 

repairs and capital expenditures 

that are required for raising tenant 

satisfaction from an operational 

perspective. We will also time 

investments to raise shopping 

center value to coincide with 

large-scale renovations when 

end-tenant leases expire, includ-

ing plans to concurrently renew 

exclusive tenant space and com-

mon areas in cooperation with the 

master lessee.

6. Disposition Policy

In general, we expect to own 

properties for medium-to-long-

term operation, and do not 

expect short-term dispositions 

of our properties. However, we 

may consider the short-term 

disposal of any of our properties 

if we believe it would support our 

goal of maintaining stable 

revenues from our portfolio.

When disposing of properties, 

we will refer to the opinions of 

third parties such as appraisers, 

and will comprehensively assess 

factors including the impact on 

our overall portfolio after con-

sidering issues including market 

research reports, examples of 

similar transactions, and the 

future profitability of the property 

in question.

8) Financing Policies

1. Equity Finance

We may issue additional invest-

ment units to acquire or repair 

properties, return tenant lease-

hold and security deposits, pay 

our operating expenses, repay 

debt, or other purposes. With the 

objective of stable long-term 

growth, we will flexibly issue new 

units with due consideration of the 

potential for dilution of our invest-

ment units. Dilution refers to 

reduced voting rights, net income 

and distributions per share as a 

result of the issue of new units.

2. Debt Finance

We may take on borrowings, 

including in the call money mar-

ket, or issue investment corpo-

ration bonds to obtain capital 

largely to acquire or repair 
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properties; pay dividends; obtain 

required operating capital; and 

repay borrowings, including ten-

ant leasehold and security 

deposits, loans, and short- and 

long-term investment corpora-

tion bonds (collectively, “invest-

ment corporation bonds) in order 

to help us steadily increase 

operating assets and operate our 

assets efficiently and consistently. 

However, the use or the purpose 

of funds raised through the issu-

ance of short-term investment 

corporation bonds must be with-

in the scope prescribed in laws 

and regulations. We may only 

obtain loans from qualified insti-

tutional investors as specified by 

the Financial Instruments and 

Exchange Act (Law No. 25 of 

1948, as amended) and by Article 

67, Paragraph 15 of the Act on 

Special Measures Concerning 

Taxation (Law No. 26 of 1957, as 

amended).

The maximum amount of each 

loan and each issue of invest-

ment corporation bonds shall be 

¥1 trillion, and the aggregate 

amount of all such debt shall not 

exceed ¥1 trillion. In general, we 

intend to obtain unsecured and 

unguaranteed financing. However, 

we may obtain loans or issue 

investment corporation bonds by 

collateralizing our properties.

When investing in overseas 

real estate, we may obtain loans 

denominated in local currency. 

We may also procure funds in 

Japanese yen and convert the 

funds into local currency based 

on market conditions and other 

factors at the time of procurement.

A. Ratio of interest-bearing liabili-

ties to total assets and loan-to-

value (LTV) ratio(Note 8) 

We will consider our external 

and internal growth strategies 

while maintaining a strong 

financial base with a conserva-

tive ratio of liabilities to assets. 

We have set an upper limit of 60 

percent for our LTV ratio, and 

generally intend to operate with 

an LTV ratio of approximately 50 

percent. We may, however, tem-

porarily exceed the 60 percent 

threshold as a result of property 

acquisitions or other events.

Note 8: LTV: (Interest-bearing debt + 

Leasehold and security deposits) ÷ 

Total assets

B. Extended loan maturities and 

fixed interest rates

We commit to loan maturities 

according to cash flow conditions 

based on tenant lease terms and 

content. We also consider 

extended loan maturities and 

fixed interest rates to reduce 

various risks and operate properly.

C. Bank formation with a focus on 

megabanks and diversification 

of financing sources and methods

We use the AEON Group’s credit-

worthiness when obtaining 

loans, with the goal of appropri-

ately diversifying lender financial 

institutions with a focus on 

megabanks. We also diversify 

debt financing by comprehen-

sively considering market 

conditions and financial position 

in using indirect and direct 

financing methods that include 

the issuance of investment 

corporation bonds.

3. Derivative Transactions

We may use derivatives mainly to 

hedge the interest-rate risk 

associated with loans and other 

debt in light of economic condi-

tions and interest rate movements. 

We may also use derivatives to 

hedge the foreign-exchange risk 

associated with investments in 

overseas real estate, largely for 

foreign-currency receivables 

such as rent and payables.

4. Use of Leasehold and 

Security Deposits

Leasehold and security deposits 

that we receive from tenants are 

a stable, low-cost source of capital 

that we may use effectively.

We also hold cash and deposits 

in amounts deemed appropriate 

in light of factors including our 

commitment lines to address 

various financial needs including 

repair expenses; capital expendi-

tures; distributions; minor debt 

repayments; working capital for 

our operations; refunding lease-

hold deposits; and real estate-

related asset purchases.

5. Credit Ratings

As of the date of this publication, 

we have obtained a AA- long-

term issuer rating from Japan 

Credit Rating Agency, Ltd. This 

rating is not a rating of our 

investment units. We have made 

no request for the investment 

units to receive a credit rating 

from a credit rating agency and 

have no plans for such a credit 

rating to be provided or submitted 

for inspection by a credit rating 

agency.
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6. Investment Policy for 

Surplus Funds

We carefully manage surplus 

funds based on due consideration 

of the interest rate environment, 

cash flow and the safety and 

liquidity of the investment.

9) Information Management and 

Disclosure Policy

1. We maintain transparency for 

investors and make timely, appro-

priate disclosure of the informa-

tion investors need for investment 

decisions. Our policy for timely 

and appropriate disclosure 

involves considering the trans-

parency and comprehensibility 

of information and meeting 

investor needs with disclosure 

that is not legally required.

2. We have structured a system for 

aggregating and quickly disclos-

ing accurate and useful informa-

tion to provide opportunities for 

investors to fairly access 

information.

3. We appropriately disclose infor-

mation specified by the Act 

Concerning Investment Trusts 

and Investment Corporations, 

the Financial Instruments and 

Exchange Act, the Tokyo Stock 

Exchange, and the Investment 

Trusts Association, Japan in the 

required format.

2. Target Investments

1) Asset Types Targeted for 

Investment

1. We invest in the assets listed 

below in accordance with the 

basic policies specified in Article 

of Incorporation 27. 

A.  Real estate

B. The assets listed below (collec-

tively, “Real estate equivalents”; 

Real estate and Real estate 

equivalents are collectively 

referred to as “Real estate, etc.”)

(i) Real estate leasehold 

rights

(ii) Surface rights

(iii) The assets listed in (1) or (2) 

(i) or (ii) pursuant to the for-

eign laws and regulations

(iv) Trust beneficiary inter-

ests in a trust that has as 

trust assets real estate, 

real estate leasehold 

rights, surface rights, or 

assets listed in (iii) 

(including blanket trusts 

in which cash incidental 

to the real estate is also 

entrusted)

(v) Trust beneficiary interests 

in a trust that has cash 

as its initial trust asset, 

the purpose of which is 

managing trust assets by 

investing in real estate, 

real estate leasehold 

rights, surface rights, or 

assets listed in (iii)

(vi) Equity interests in anony-

mous associations related 

to real estate (equity 

interests in contracts 

that provide for distribution 

of earnings from the 

management of the assets 

listed in (1) real estate 

and (2) (i) through (v) that 

one party invests for a 

counterparty to manage)

(vii) Trust beneficiary inter-

ests of a trust that has 

cash as its initial trust 

assets, the purpose of 

which is managing trust 

assets by investing pri-

marily in the assets listed 

in (vi)

(viii)  Assets having a nature 

similar to assets listed in 

(iv) through (vii) structured 

in accordance with foreign 

laws and regulations 

C.  The following securities, the 

purpose of which is investment 

primarily in Real Estate, etc. 

(including the rights that should 

be indicated in the subject 

securities/certificates in 

instances in which securities/

certificates indicating the inter-

ests are not issued) (collectively 

“Real Estate-Backed Securities;” 

and the Real Estate, etc. and the 

Real Estate-Backed Securities 

are referred to collectively as the 

“Real Estate-Related Assets”)

(i)  Preferred equity securi-

ties (as defined in the Act 

on Securitization of 

Assets, Law No. 105 of 

1998, as amended (“Asset 

Securitization Act”))

(ii)  Beneficiary certificates 

(as defined in the Act 

Concerning Investment 

Trusts and Investment 

Corporations (“Investment 

Trust Act”))

37



(iii)  Investment securities (as 

defined in the Investment 

Trust Act)

(iv)   Beneficiary certificates 

of specific purpose trusts 

(as defined in the Asset 

Securitization Act)

(v)  Equity interests in anony-

mous associations (equity 

interests in anonymous 

associations as defined 

in Article 2, Paragraph 2, 

Item 5 of the Financial 

Instruments and 

Exchange Act (“FIEA”))

(vi)  Assets having a nature 

similar to assets listed in 

(i) through (v) structured 

in accordance with for-

eign laws and regulations

2. We invest in the specified assets 

listed below in addition to the 

specified assets listed in 1 above

A. Other specified assets

(i)  Deposits

(ii)  Call loans

(iii)  Japanese national 

government bonds (as 

defined in the FIEA)

(iv)  Japanese regional 

government bonds (as 

defined in the FIEA)

(v)  Corporate bonds issued 

under special Acts (as 

defined in the FIEA)

(vi)  Specified corporate 

bonds as prescribed in 

the Asset Securitization 

Act (as defined in the 

Asset Securitization Act)

(vii)  Corporate bonds (as 

defined in the FIEA, 

excluding corporate 

bonds with new share 

subscription rights)

(viii)  Negotiable certificates of 

deposit

(ix)  Trust beneficiary certifi-

cates for loan trusts (as 

defined in the FIEA)

(x)  Commercial paper (as 

defined in the FIEA)

(xi)  Monetary claims (as 

defined in the Order for 

Enforcement of the Act 

on Investment Trusts and 

Investment Corporations 

Cabinet Order No. 480 of 

2000, as amended 

(“Investment Trust Act 

Enforcement Order,” 

excluding those falling 

under (xiv))

(xii)  Share certificates (as 

defined in the FIEA)

(xiii) Securities or certificates 

issued by a foreign country 

or foreign party, with the 

nature of those securities 

or certificates listed in 

(iii) through (vii) or (xi), 

(x) or (xii)

(xiv) Monetary claims against 

the corporation holding 

overseas real estate

(xv) Trust beneficiary inter-

ests in a trust that has 

cash as its initial trust 

assets, the purpose of 

which is managing the 

trust assets by investing 

primarily in the assets 

listed in (i) through (xii)

(xvi) Securities (securities 

pursuant to Article 3, 

Paragraph 1 of the 

Investment Trust Act 

Enforcement Order, 

same hereinafter; 

excluding securities 

enumerated above)

B.  Interests in derivative transac-

tions (for the purposes of this 

paragraph, as defined in the 

Investment Trust Act 

Enforcement Order)

C. Facilities generating renewable 

energy (as defined in the 

Investment Trust Act 

Enforcement Order)

3. In addition to the above, we may 

invest in the following rights, etc., 

the acquisition of which is deemed 

necessary or useful in connection 

with Real Estate-Related Assets, 

etc. or in light of the investment 

perspective as defined in Article 

of Incorporation 28

A. Trademark rights, etc. based on 

the Trademark Act (trademarks 

or the exclusive or non-exclusive 

right to use trademarks)

B. Copyrights, etc. as defined in the 

Copyright Act

C. Movables (as defined in the Civil 

Code, excluding assets falling 

under facilities generating 

renewable energy)

D. Rights to use hot spring water 

sources as prescribed by the 

Hot Springs Act and facilities 

associated with these hot 

springs

E. Specified contributions (as 

defined in the Asset 

Securitization Act)

F. Equity interests in partnerships 

as defined in the Civil Code 

(excluding assets enumerated 

above)
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G. Casualty insurance policies and 

rights or profits associated with 

them

H. Carbon dioxide equivalent quo-

tas or other similar assets or 

emission rights (including emis-

sion rights for greenhouse 

gases) based on the Act on 

Promotion of Global Warming 

Countermeasures

I. Easements

J. Rights, etc. structured according 

to the laws and regulations of 

relevant countries and regions 

when we make investments in 

our primary area of Real Estate, 

etc. based on our Articles of 

Incorporation (including rights 

that, according to the laws and 

regulations of the relevant 

country or region, are the same 

as or similar to beneficiary 

interests in trusts that have 

Real Estate, etc., as the primary 

investment asset, but excluding 

assets enumerated above) 

K. Shares issued by Japanese and 

foreign corporations for the 

exclusive management of assets 

in countries outside of Japan 

(including other contributions, 

but excluding assets enumerated 

above)

L. In addition to the above, we may 

invest in the other rights, the 

acquisition of which is deemed 

necessary or useful in connec-

tion with investments in Real 

Estate-Related Assets, etc. or in 

light of the investment perspec-

tive as defined in the Articles of 

Incorporation

4. In addition to the above, we may 

acquire other rights that we hold 

in conjunction with our organization 

management.

5. As provided for in the Order for 

Enforcement of the Act on 

Investment Trusts and 

Investment Corporations, we 

may also acquire equity inter-

ests in corporations holding 

overseas real estate.

3. Distribution Policy

1) Distribution Policy

AEON REIT shall, in principle, 

make distributions pursuant to 

the following policy, and shall 

follow the “Rules relating to Real 

Estate Investment Trusts and 

Real Estate Investment 

Corporations” stipulated by the 

Investment Trusts Association 

(Article of Incorporation 35, 

Paragraph 1).

1. The distributable amount 

(“Distributable Amount”) arising 

from the management of our 

Investment Assets will be the 

amount of profit prescribed in 

Article 136, Paragraph 1 of the 

Investment Trust Act.

2. We shall determine the amount 

of distributions, which shall 

exceed 90% of the distributable 

profit (but, in any case, not to be 

greater than the Distributable 

Amount); (however, if there is a 

change in the method of calcula-

tion due to the amendment to 

laws and regulations, then the 

amount as calculated after such 

change), as defined in the spe-

cial taxation measures for 

investment corporations as set 

forth in Article 67-15, Paragraph 

1 of the Act on Special Measures 

Concerning Taxation (the 

“Special Taxation Measures for 

Investment Corporations”). 

However, this shall not apply if 

there is a loss for tax purposes 

or if there are no taxable earn-

ings because of a tax loss 

carryforward, and the amount 

will be reasonably determined 

by the Investment Corporation. 

Furthermore, we may set aside 

funds from the Distributable 

Amount for the long-term repair 

reserve, reserve for payment 

and reserve for distributions, as 

well as similar reserves and 

allowances that we consider 

necessary to maintain or increase 

the value of our investment 

assets. In addition to the forego-

ing, the investment corporation 

may set aside funds for reserves 

for adjustments of temporary 

difference, etc. and reverse 

allowances for adjustments of 

temporary difference, etc.

3. The amount of profit not allocated 

to distributions and retained and 

the amount of profit earned by 

the Closing Date shall be invested 

in accordance with the stipula-

tions of our basic investment 

policy and investment 

perspective, etc.
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2) Distributions in Excess of the 

Amount of Profit

In cases that we determine to be 

appropriate, based on trends in 

the economic environment, the 

real estate market and the leas-

ing market, etc., the state of its 

assets or the state of its finances 

or other similar reasons, or, in 

the case where we can reduce 

corporation tax, etc. that may be 

imposed on us, we may make 

distributions of funds in excess 

of the Distributable Amount, 

consisting of the distribution 

amount specified in 2. above plus 

an amount  that is no greater 

than 60 percent of the deprecia-

tion costs for the relevant fiscal 

period. Further, if, in the case 

described above, the amount of 

funds distributed does not satisfy 

the requirements for Special 

Taxation Measures for Investment 

Corporations stipulated in laws 

and regulations, we may deter-

mine an amount of funds  with 

the objective of satisfying such 

requirements (Article of 

Incorporation 35, Paragraph 2).

3) Method for Distribution of Funds

Distributions of funds shall be in 

cash and, in principle, shall be 

made within three months from 

the Closing Date to unitholders 

or to pledgees of investment 

units registered or recorded in 

the last registry of unitholders 

as of the Closing Date in accor-

dance with the number of 

investment units (Article of 

Incorporation 35, Paragraph 3).

4) Period of Exclusion of Right to 

Demand Distributions

Once three full years have 

elapsed from the date of the 

start of the payment of a distri-

bution, we will no longer be obli-

gated to make the payment of 

such distribution. No interest 

shall accrue on unpaid distributions 

(Article of Incorporation 35, 

Paragraph 4).

 

4. Restrictions on Investment

1) Restrictions on Investment 

Prescribed by the Articles of 

Incorporation

The restrictions on investment 

prescribed by Article of 

Incorporation 30 are as follows.

1. Monetary claims and marketable 

securities as defined in the 

Investment Trust Act Enforcement 

Order (excluding Real Estate, etc., 

Real Estate-Backed Securities, 

and the specified assets in 

Article of Incorporation 29, 

Paragraph 2, (1) (xi) of the pre-

ceding article and the securities 

prescribed in Paragraph 2, (1) 

(xvi) of the preceding article 

shall not be the subject of active 

investments, and in cases where 

there are surplus funds, invest-

ments shall be made in such 

assets, taking security and 

liquidity of investment into con-

sideration, and in other cases, 

investment shall be made taking 

into consideration relevance 

with Real Estate-Related Assets.

2. Investment in rights relating to 

derivative transactions as 

defined in the Investment Trust 

Act Enforcement Order shall be 

limited to investment for the 

purpose of hedging against risks 

including interest rate risk 

arising from our liabilities and 

currency risk relating to our 

investment assets.

2) Investment Limits Pursuant to 

the FIEA and Investment Trust 

Act Enforcement Order

The investment corporation is 

subject to investment limits 

pursuant to the FIEA and Investment 

Trust Act Enforcement Order. 

Main restrictions are as follows.

1. Limits on Asset Management by 

the Asset Manager

A registered investment corporation 

must entrust the management of 

its assets to an asset management 

company.

The asset management company 

is prohibited from performing 

certain acts related to the 

business of managing the assets 

of said investment corporation. 

As a result, an investment corporation 

is subject to certain investment 

restrictions. Main prohibited acts 

are as follows.

A. Internal transactions

Transactions between an asset 

management company and its 

directors or officers are prohibit-

ed (FIEA, Article 42, Paragraph 2, 

Item 1), except for certain cases 

specified in Article 128 of the 

Cabinet Office Ordinance 

regarding the FIEA (2011, 

Cabinet Office Ordinance No. 52, 
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as amended; “Ordinance 52”) 

that are considered unlikely to 

result in failure to protect the 

interests of unitholders, damage 

fair transactions or discredit the 

financial instruments business.

B. Reciprocal transactions with 

managed assets

Transactions between asset 

management companies of 

investment corporation assets 

are prohibited (FIEA, Article 42, 

Paragraph 2, Item 2), except for 

certain cases specified in 

Ordinance 52, Article 129 that 

are considered unlikely to result 

in failure to protect the interests 

of unitholders, damage fair 

transactions or discredit the 

financial instruments business.

C. Transactions for the benefit of 

third parties

An asset management company 

may not undertake transactions 

in certain financial instruments, 

indices or options based on 

fluctuations in the price, index, 

value, or amount of consider-

ation related to transactions in 

the assets of an investment 

corporation, without a legally 

valid reason, with the objective 

of benefiting a third party other 

than the investment corporation 

or said investment (FIEA, Article 

42, Paragraph 2, Item 3).

D. Transactions harmful to the 

interests of the investment 

corporation

An asset management company 

may not undertake transactions 

that are other than upon normal 

terms and conditions for such 

transactions, and further, such 

transactions upon said condi-

tions would be harmful to the 

interests of the investment cor-

poration (FIEA, Article 42, 

Paragraph 2, Item 4).

E. Prohibition of sales and 

purchases when separate 

management is not ensured

An asset management company 

may not undertake transactions 

(transactions listed in FIEA 

Article 2, Paragraph 8, Items 1 

and 2 and Items 7 through 9) in 

connection with money invested 

or contributed for the following 

rights or securities (including 

types specified by a Cabinet 

Order) when said money is not 

managed separately as stipulated 

by government ordinance from 

the property that belongs to the 

entity that conducts the relevant 

business to be operated using 

such money, or any other prop-

erty pertaining to other busi-

nesses conducted by that entity 

(FIEA Article 40.3).

(i)  Rights listed in FIEA Article 2, 

Paragraph 2, Items 5 and 6

(ii)  Marketable securities are 

limited to those listed in 

FIEA Article 2, Paragraph 1, 

Item 21 (FIEA Enforcement 

Order; 1968, Cabinet Order 

No. 321, as amended; the 

“FIEA Enforcement Order”)

(iii)  Rights listed in FIEA Article 2, 

Paragraph 2, Item 7 (limited 

to those listed in the FIEA 

Enforcement Order)

F. Other transactions defined by 

cabinet office ordinances

In addition to the above, the 

asset management company may 

not undertake the following 

actions as defined by Cabinet 

Office Ordinance that are consid-

ered likely to result in failure to 

protect the interests of unithold-

ers, damage fair transactions or 

discredit the financial instru-

ments business (FIEA Article 42, 

Paragraph 2, Item 7, FIEA Article 

44, Paragraph 3, Item 1, 

Ordinance 52, Article 130)

(i)  Transactions among the 

auditors, officers and 

employees of an asset 

management company 

(excluding all items listed in 

Ordinance 52, Article 128)

(Ordinance 52, Article 130, 

Paragraph 1, Item 1)

(ii)  Transactions for the benefit 

of the investment management 

company or third parties 

that would be harmful to the 

interests of the investment 

corporation (Ordinance 52, 

Article 130, Paragraph 1, 

Item 2)

(iii)  Transactions for the benefit 

of third parties (including 

the parent or subsidiary 

companies of the asset 

management company) that 

are not necessary according 

to investment management 

policies, the financial condi-

tion of assets under management, 

or market conditions (Ordinance 

52, Article 130, Paragraph 1, 

Item 3).

(iv) Asset management that 

introduces unfair restric-

tions or other limitations 
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from external entities 

(Ordinance 52, Article 130, 

Paragraph 1, Item 4).

(v) The sale or purchase of 

investment securities, or 

similar transactions, with 

the objective of unfairly 

inflating transaction 

amounts or artificially 

inflating prices (Ordinance 

52, Article 130, Paragraph 1, 

Item 5).

(vi) Transactions between third 

parties and their agents 

(excluding specific transac-

tions to which all rights 

holders have agreed pursu-

ant to advance explanation 

of the rationale for the 

transaction provided by the 

asset management compa-

ny) (Ordinance 52, Article 

130, Paragraph 1, Item 6).

(vii)  Other activities prohibited 

by Cabinet Office Ordinance

2. Limitation on Acquisition of the 

Same Issue of Units

A registered investment corpora-

tion may not acquire the same 

units issued by a corporation in 

excess of 50/100 of total number 

of said issued and outstanding 

units. (Investment Trust Act 

Article 194, Investment Trust Act 

Enforcement Order Article 221)

3. Restriction on Acquisition of 

Own Units and Acceptance 

of Pledge 

An investment corporation may 

not acquire units issued by itself, 

or accept them for the purpose 

of pledge, unless it acquires 

units issued by itself in the 

following cases (Investment 

Trust Act Article 80, Paragraph 1):

A. when the investment corporation 

acquires its investment units for 

value by entering into agree-

ments with unitholders (Article 

of Incorporation 5, item 2);(Note 9)

Note 9: The Investment Trust Act was 

amended on June 12, 2013 with the 

addition of the exception for the 

acquisition of own units as presented 

in A above. The revised Investment 

Trust Act will be enforced by govern-

ment ordinances within 18 months 

of its June 19, 2013 promulgation 

date. In accordance with the amended 

Investment Trust Act, AEON REIT 

has amended its Articles of 

Incorporation with a provision to 

permit the acquisition of its own 

units with compensation pursuant 

to the agreement of unitholders 

(Article of Incorporation 5, Paragraph 

2). However, the provision in Article 

of Incorporation 5, Paragraph 2 

becomes effective on the effective 

date of the revision to the Investment 

Trust Act that allows an investment 

corporation to acquire its own units 

with compensation pursuant to the 

agreement of unitholders (Article of 

Incorporation 41, Paragraph 1).

B. when the units are acquired 

from another investment corpo-

ration as the surviving entity of 

a merger;

C. when purchasing units pursuant 

to the provisions of the 

Investment Trust Law Act; or

D. when purchasing units pursuant 

to other government ordinances 

regarding the Investment Trust 

Act.

4. Restriction on Acquisition of 

Parent Corporation’s Units by 

Subsidiary Corporation

An investment corporation (sub-

sidiary), a majority of the units of 

which is owned by another 

investment corporation (parent), 

may not acquire the units of such 

parent investment corporation 

except in the following cases 

(Investment Trust Act, Article 81, 

Paragraph 1, Item 2):

A. when the units are acquired 

from another investment corpo-

ration as the surviving entity of 

a merger; or

B. when purchasing units pursuant 

to other government ordinances 

regarding the Investment Trust 

Law of Japan.

When either a parent investment 

corporation and its subsidiary 

investment corporation or its 

subsidiary investment corpora-

tion owns a majority of the units 

issued by another investment 

corporation, the other invest-

ment corporation is considered 

to be a subsidiary of the said 

parent investment corporation 

(Investment Trust Act, Article 81, 

Paragraph 4).

3) Other Investment Restrictions

1. Subscription and Margin Trading 

of Securities

The investment corporation may 

not subscribe to, or conduct 

margin trading of, securities.
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2. Borrowing and Investment 

Corporation Bonds

A. The investment corporation may 

borrow funds, including in the 

call market, or issue investment 

corporation bonds to support 

steady growth in investment 

assets and efficient, stable 

asset management. The invest-

ment corporation may procure 

funds to acquire assets; pay 

repair costs, other maintenance 

and management expenses, or 

distributions; for its operations; 

or to repay its debts, including 

the refund of leasehold deposits 

and security deposits, the 

repayment of borrowing and the 

redemption of investment cor-

poration bonds (including short-

term investment corporation 

bonds). However, the use or the 

purpose of funds raised through 

the issuance of short-term 

investment corporation bonds 

must be within the scope pre-

scribed in laws and regulations. 

Furthermore, the investment 

corporation may only borrow 

from qualified institutional 

investors as prescribed by the 

FIEA (limited to institutional 

investors as defined in Article 

67-15 of the Special Taxation 

Measures Act).

B. The investment corporation may 

collateralize investment assets 

as collateral when borrowing or 

issuing investment corporation 

bonds as prescribed in the pre-

ceding paragraph (Article of 

Incorporation 36, Paragraph 2).

C. The maximum amount of each 

loan and each issue of invest-

ment corporation bonds shall be 

¥1 trillion, and the aggregate 

amount of all such debt shall 

not exceed ¥1 trillion (Article of 

Incorporation 36, Paragraph 3).

3. Concentration of Investment

Concentration of investment is 

not legally restricted. Please 

refer to 1. Investment Policies 

above for policies related to 

investment that is diversified by 

the intended purpose and 

location of real estate.

4. Investment in Other Funds

The Articles of Incorporation do 

not restrict investments in other 

funds (investment units or the 

trust beneficiary certificates of 

investment trusts).
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 MALL Kumamoto MALL Hiezu

 MALL Yokkaichi-Kita

 MALL Mitouchihara
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Summary of Selected Financial Data

Millions of yen 
(Except per unit data and where otherwise indicated)

Thousands of 
U.S. dollars (Note 4) 

(Except per 
unit data)

1st Period
Nov. 30, 2012 to 

July 31, 2013

2nd Period
Aug. 1, 2013 to 
Jan. 31, 2014

3rd Period 
Feb. 1, 2014 to 
July 31, 2014

4th Period
Aug. 1, 2014 to 
Jan. 31, 2015

5th Period
Feb. 1, 2015 to 
July 31, 2015

5th Period
Feb. 1, 2015 to 
July 31, 2015

Operating revenues (Note 1) ¥        — ¥       2,773 ¥       7,420 ¥       7,422 ¥       9,164 $     73,893

Revenues related to real estate 
leasing business — 2,773 7,420 7,422 9,163 73,888

Operating expenses 15 1,572 4,615 4,612 5,658 45,629

Expenses related to real estate 
leasing business — 1,439 4,163 4,165 5,168 41,677

Operating income (loss) (15) 1,201 2,805 2,810 3,505 28,263

Income (loss) before income taxes (107) 761 2,338 2,353 2,978 24,014

Net income (loss) (107) 759 2,337 2,349 2,969 23,943

Net operating income (NOI) from 
property leasing (Note 2) — 2,445 5,488 5,502 6,654 53,659

Funds from operation (FFO) (Note 2) — 1,871 4,568 4,595 5,628 45,386

Total cash distribution — 651 2,337 2,349 2,969 23,945

Ratio of FFO to total cash distribution (%) (Note 2) — 34.8 51.2 51.1 52.8

Depreciation — 1,111 2,230 2,245 2,659 21,447

Capital expenditures — 26 289 429 798 6,439

Total assets 423 171,644 169,913 169,746 203,795 1,643,244

Interest-bearing debt — 67,000 63,000 63,000 75,400 607,966

Net assets 392 97,003 98,689 98,701 119,417 962,885

Unitholders’ capital 500 96,351 96,351 96,351 116,447 938,937

Total number of investment units issued (Units) 5,000 950,000 950,000 950,000 1,090,200

FFO per unit (¥/$) (Note 2) — 1,970 4,809 4,837 5,163 41

Net assets per unit (¥/$) 78,428 102,108 103,883 103,896 109,536 883

Distribution per unit (¥/$) — 686 2,461 2,473 2,724 21

Distribution from retained earnings per unit (¥/$) — 686 2,461 2,473 2,724 21

Distribution in excess of retained 
earnings per unit (¥/$) — — — — — —

Payout ratio (%) (Note 2) — 85.8 100.0 100.0 100.0

Return on assets (ROA) (%) (Note 2) (23.3) 0.9 1.4 1.4 1.6

Return on equity (ROE) (%) (Note 2) (24.2) 1.6 2.4 2.4 2.7

Capital ratio (%) (Note 2) 92.5 56.5 58.1 58.1 58.6

Loan to value (LTV) (%) (Note 2) — 43.4 41.4 41.5 41.0 

Number of days in the period (Note 3) — 71 181 184 181

Number of investment properties — 16 17 17 23

Total leaseable area (m2) — 1,682,917 1,705,787 1,705,787 2,133,670

Occupancy rate (%) (Note 2) — 100 100 100 100

Notes: 1. Operating revenues do not include consumption tax.

 2. Calculations used above are as follows:

  •  NOI from property leasing: (Revenues related to real estate leasing business – Expenses related to real estate leasing business) + Depreciation

  •  FFO: Net income (excluding Gain or Loss on sale of investment properties) + Depreciation

  •  Ratio of FFO to total cash distribution: Total cash distribution (including distribution in excess of retained earnings) ÷ FFO × 100

  •  FFO per unit: FFO ÷ Total number of investment units issued

  •  Payout ratio: Distribution per unit (excluding distribution in excess of retained earnings) ÷ Net income per unit × 100. The payout ratio for the 2nd 
Period and 5th Period was calculated as follows because of the issue of new units: Total cash distribution (excluding distribution in excess of 
retained earnings) ÷ Net income × 100

  •  ROA: Income (loss) before income taxes / (Total assets at beginning of period + Total assets at end of period) ÷ 2 × 100

  •  ROE: Net income (loss) / (Net assets at beginning of period + Net assets at end of period) ÷ 2 × 100

  •  Capital ratio: Net assets at end of period ÷ Total assets at end of period × 100

  •  LTV: (Interest-bearing debt + Leasehold and security deposits) ÷ Total assets × 100

  •  Occupancy rate: Gross leased area ÷ Leasable area at the end of the period. The occupancy rate is 100 percent as of July 31, 2015 because AEON 
REIT operated all properties under master lease agreements.

 3. Number of days in the period refers to the number of days of actual asset management, and was calculated as of November 22, 2013 through 
January 31, 2014 for the 2nd Period.

 4. The translations of Japanese yen amounts into U.S. dollar amounts are included solely for the convenience of readers outside Japan and have 
been made at the rate of ¥124.02 to $1, the approximate rate of exchange at July 31, 2015.
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Operations and Results

(1) Overview

AEON REIT primarily invests in retail properties that are an integral part of the communities in which they are located in 

order to ensure stable income and achieve steady portfolio growth over the medium-to-long term.

AEON REIT was established on November 30, 2012 in accordance with the Act on Investment Trusts and Investment 

Corporations (Act No. 198 of 1951, as amended; hereinafter, the “Investment Trusts Act”) by its Asset Manager, AEON 

Reit Management Co., Ltd. We listed our units on the Real Estate Investment Trust Securities Market of the Tokyo Stock 

Exchange (the J-REIT market) (stock code: 3292) on November 22, 2013. In the fiscal period ended July 31, 2015, the 

second year since the listing, we issued 140,200 new investment units in February 2015, and used the proceeds, com-

bined with ¥12,400 million in new borrowings to make six property acquisitions with a total acquisition cost of ¥35,270 

million. We also made an additional acquisition of land at AEON MALL Mitouchihara (¥105 million) in April 2015. 

As a result, as of July 31, 2015, we owned 23 properties in Japan and overseas with a total acquisition cost of ¥194,363 

million.

(2) Operating Environment and Performance

Operating Environment

In the Japanese economy, the expansion of quantitative and qualitative easing by the Bank of Japan at the end of 

October 2014 and the decision by the administration of Prime Minister Shinzo Abe to postpone a planned further con-

sumption tax increase contributed to an upturn in capital investment and personal consumption, resulting in a broad 

increase in wages based on heightened expectations for growth in corporate earnings. The Japanese economy was also 

bolstered by other factors such as an increase in inbound tourism consumption with the rise in the number of foreign 

visitors to Japan reflecting the weak yen, as well as solid economic expansion in the United States. As a result, the 

Japanese economy remained on a moderate recovery path, and the Nikkei Stock Average recovered to the ¥20,000 level 

for the first time in 15 years. 

 In the J-REIT market, the number of listed REITs as of July 31, 2015 was 53, with four new listings in 2015, and 

aggregate market capitalization exceeded ¥10 trillion as the appetite for properties remained strong in a favorable 

financing environment. 

Performance

In this environment, we acquired five properties on February 18, 2015 (AEON MALL Sapporo-Hiraoka, AEON MALL 

Kushiro-Showa, AEON MALL Rifu, AEON MALL Yamagata-Minami, and AEON MALL Yokkaichi-Kita) using proceeds 

from the issuance of new investment units in February 2015, new borrowings and other funds. In addition, we acquired 

AEON MALL KYOTO on February 27, 2015, thereby expanding our portfolio size, bolstering profitability and widening the 

areas where we hold properties to 17 prefectures in Japan. 

  For our existing properties, in addition to carrying out work that is required to be done periodically, such as renova-

tion of store air-conditioning and exterior wall painting, we made capital expenditures to improve store functionality, 

including renovation work to revitalize stores. In these ways, we worked to maintain and enhance our portfolio value. 

(3) Funding

AEON REIT’s balance of debt as of July 31, 2015 was ¥75,400 million, and the ratio of interest-bearing debt plus lease-

hold and security deposits to total assets, or LTV, was 41.0 percent.

Consequently, as of July 31, 2015, the ratio of long-term debt to total interest-bearing debt was 97.3 percent. The ratio of 

fixed-rate debt, including interest-bearing debt with rates fixed using swaps, to total interest-bearing debt was 84.5 per-

cent. These figures and the LTV in the previous paragraph indicate that our finances remain sound and conservative.

As of July 31, 2015, AEON REIT had the following credit rating.

Credit Rating Agency Credit Rating Outlook

Japan Credit Rating Agency, Ltd. AA- Stable

(4) Results and Distribution

As a result of the above operations, operating revenues were ¥9,164 million, operating income was ¥3,505 million, 

income before income taxes was ¥2,978 million, and net income was ¥2,969 million.
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Distribution per unit for the 5th Period was ¥2,724, rounded down to the nearest yen. Applying the special tax treat-

ment of the Act on Special Measures Concerning Taxation, Article 67-15, AEON REIT distributed all unappropriated 

retained earnings at the end of the period after deducting allowable appropriations to reserves.

AEON REIT did not distribute cash in excess of retained earnings, which is defined in Article 35 of the Articles of 

Incorporation, Paragraph 2.

Distribution Information

Distribution per unit for the 5th Period was ¥2,724, rounded down to the nearest yen. Applying the special tax treatment 

of the Act on Special Measures Concerning Taxation, Article 67-15, AEON REIT distributed all unappropriated retained 

earnings at the end of the period after deducting allowable appropriations to reserves.

Thousands of yen (Except per unit data)

1st Period 

November 30, 2012 to 

July 31, 2013

2nd Period 

August 1, 2013 to 

January 31, 2014

3rd Period 

February 1, 2014 to 

July 31, 2014

4th Period 

August 1, 2014 to 

January 31, 2015

5th Period 5th Period 

February 1, 2015 to February 1, 2015 to 

July 31, 2015July 31, 2015

Unappropriated retained earnings 

(undisposed loss) ¥(107,855) ¥652,135 ¥2,338,167 ¥2,349,969 ¥2,970,056

Appropriations to reserves — 435 217 619 351

Total cash distribution — 651,700 2,337,950 2,349,350 2,969,704

(Cash distribution per unit) (—) (686) (2,461) (2,473) (2,724)

Distribution of retained earnings — 651,700 2,337,950 2,349,350 2,969,704

(Distribution of retained earnings per unit) (—) (686) (2,461) (2,473) (2,724)

Return of capital — — — — —

(Return of capital per unit) (—) (—) (—) (—) (—)

Equity Finance

Changes in total investment units issued and outstanding and unitholders’ capital from the establishment of AEON 

REIT through July 31, 2015 are as follows.

Date Summary

Total Investment Units Issued 

and Outstanding 

(Units)

Unitholders’ Capital

(Millions of yen) Remarks

Increase Balance Increase Balance

November 30, 2012 Private offering 5,000 5,000 ¥     500 ¥       500 (Note 1)

November 21, 2013 Public offering 900,000 905,000 91,287 91,787 (Note 2)

December 17, 2013 Third-party allotment 45,000 950,000 4,564 96,351 (Note 3)

February 12, 2015 Public offering 133,190 1,083,190 19,090 115,442 (Note 4)

February 25, 2015 Third-party allotment 7,010 1,090,200 1,004 116,447 (Note 5)

Notes: 1. Issue of new investment units for ¥100,000 per unit with establishment of AEON REIT.

 2. Public offering of new investment units for ¥105,000 per unit (excluding underwriting fee: ¥101,430 per unit) for the purpose of new property acquisitions.

 3. Third-party allotment of new investment units for ¥101,430 per unit in connection with the public offering and capital increase.

 4. Public offering of new investment units for ¥148,200 per unit (excluding underwriting fee: ¥143,336 per unit) for the purpose of new property acquisitions.

 5. Third-party allotment of new investment units for ¥143,336 per unit in connection with the public offering and capital increase.

Historical Unit Price

Our investment units are listed on the Real Estate Investment Trust Securities Market of the Tokyo Stock Exchange. 

Highest and lowest closing prices by period are as follows.
(Yen)

1st Period 

November 30, 2012 

to July 31, 2013

2nd Period 

August 1, 2013 to 

January 31, 2014

3rd Period 

February 1, 2014 to 

July 31, 2014

4th Period 

August 1, 2014 to 

January 31, 2015

5th Period 5th Period 

February 1, 2015 to February 1, 2015 to 

July 31, 2015July 31, 2015

Highest  — ¥145,000 ¥138,900 ¥176,100 ¥180,000

Lowest  — 113,200 122,400 133,000 144,600
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Assets, Liabilities and Net Assets

Total assets as of July 31, 2015 increased ¥34,048 million from January 31, 2015 to ¥203,795 million. Current assets 

decreased ¥314 million to ¥13,054 million. Total property and equipment was ¥166,553 million.

Current liabilities increased ¥2,231 million from January 31, 2015 to ¥2,865 million, largely because of the increase in 

short-term loans.

Short-term loans totaled ¥2,000 million and long-term loans totaled ¥73,400 million as of July 31, 2015. Consequently, 

interest-bearing debt as of July 31, 2015 was ¥75,400 million. Tenant leasehold and security deposits in trust were 

¥8,109 million.

Net assets increased ¥20,715 million from January 31, 2015 to ¥119,417 million. Unitholders’ capital was ¥116,447 million.

Borrowings

Loans by lender as of July 31, 2015 are as follows.

Short-Term Loans

Lender Loan Date

Balance at 

Beginning of 

Period 

(Millions of yen)

Balance at End 

of Period 

(Millions of yen)

Average 

Interest 

Rate(Note 1) 

(%)

Due Date
Repayment 

Method
Use of Funds Remarks

Mizuho Bank, Ltd.
February 27, 

2015

— ¥1,000

0.41444
October 20, 

2015

Bullet 

repayment
(Note 3)

Unsecured and 

unguaranteed
Sumitomo Mitsui Banking 

Corporation
— 1,000

Total short-term loans — — ¥2,000 — — — — —

Long-Term Loans

Lender Loan Date

Balance at 

Beginning of 

Period 

(Millions of yen)

Balance at End 

of Period 

(Millions of yen)

Average 

Interest 

Rate(Note 1) 

(%)

Due Date
Repayment 

Method
Use of Funds Remarks

Mizuho Bank, Ltd.

November 

25, 2013

¥1,000 ¥1,000

0.42568
October 

20, 2016

Bullet 

repayment
(Note 3)

Unsecured and 

unguaranteed

Sumitomo Mitsui Banking 

Corporation
1,000 1,000

Sumitomo Mitsui Trust 

Bank, Limited
1,000 1,000

The Bank of Tokyo- 

Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd.
1,000 1,000

Mitsubishi UFJ Trust and

Banking Corporation
1,000 1,000

The Norinchukin Bank 1,000 1,000

Mizuho Trust & Banking 

Co., Ltd.
1,000 1,000

Resona Bank, Limited 1,000 1,000

The Chiba Bank, Ltd. 1,000 1,000

Mizuho Bank, Ltd.

November 

25, 2013

4,000 4,000

0.78125
(Note 2)

October 

22, 2018

Bullet 

repayment
(Note 3)

Unsecured and 

unguaranteed

Sumitomo Mitsui Banking 

Corporation
3,000 3,000

The Norinchukin Bank 3,000 3,000

Mizuho Trust & Banking 

Co., Ltd.
3,000 3,000

Mitsubishi UFJ Trust and 

Banking Corporation
3,000 3,000

AEON BANK, LTD. 2,000 2,000

The Hyakugo Bank, Ltd. 2,000 2,000

Sumitomo Mitsui Trust 

Bank, Limited
2,000 2,000

The Bank of Tokyo-

Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd.
2,000 2,000

The 77 Bank Ltd. 1,000 1,000

The Hiroshima Bank, Ltd. 1,000 1,000

Resona Bank, Limited 1,000 1,000
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Mizuho Bank, Ltd.

November 

25, 2013

4,000 4,000

1.17250
(Note 2)

October 

20, 2020

Bullet 

repayment
(Note 3)

Unsecured and 

unguaranteed

Sumitomo Mitsui Banking 

Corporation
4,000 4,000

Sumitomo Mitsui Trust 

Bank, Limited
4,000 4,000

The Bank of Tokyo- 

Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd.
3,000 3,000

Development Bank of 

Japan Inc.
2,000 2,000

The Norinchukin Bank 1,000 1,000

The Mie Bank, Ltd. 1,000 1,000

Mizuho Trust & Banking 

Co., Ltd.
1,000 1,000

Mitsubishi UFJ Trust and 

Banking Corporation
1,000 1,000

Resona Bank, Limited 1,000 1,000

Mizuho Bank, Ltd.

November 

25, 2013

1,000 1,000

1.76375
(Note 2)

October 

20, 2023

Bullet 

repayment
(Note 3)

Unsecured and 

unguaranteed

Sumitomo Mitsui Banking 

Corporation
1,000 1,000

The Mie Bank, Ltd. 1,000 1,000

The Bank of Tokyo-

Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd.
1,000 1,000

Sumitomo Mitsui Trust 

Bank, Limited
1,000 1,000

Mizuho Bank, Ltd.

February 

27, 2015

— 200

0.41444
October 

20, 2017

Bullet 

repayment
(Note 3)

Unsecured and 

unguaranteed

Sumitomo Mitsui 

Banking Corporation
— 100

Sumitomo Mitsui Trust 

Bank, Limited
— 100

The Hiroshima Bank, 

Ltd.
— 300

Mizuho Bank, Ltd.

February 

27, 2015

— 100

0.61910 
(Note 2)

October 

21, 2019

Bullet 

repayment
(Note 3)

Unsecured and 

unguaranteed

Sumitomo Mitsui 

Banking Corporation
— 100

Sumitomo Mitsui Trust 

Bank, Limited
— 100

AEON BANK, LTD. — 300

The Hyakugo Bank, 

Ltd.
— 300

The 77 Bank Ltd. — 300

Mizuho Bank, Ltd.

February 

27, 2015

— 200

0.88915 
(Note 2)

October 

20, 2021

Bullet 

repayment
(Note 3)

Unsecured and 

unguaranteed

Sumitomo Mitsui 

Banking Corporation
— 200

Sumitomo Mitsui Trust 

Bank, Limited
— 200

The Bank of Tokyo-

Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd.
— 200

The Norinchukin Bank — 900

Mizuho Trust & Banking 

Co., Ltd.
— 500

Mitsubishi UFJ Trust and 

Banking Corporation
— 800

Resona Bank, Limited — 500

Development Bank of 

Japan Inc.
— 500

Mizuho Bank, Ltd.

February 

27, 2015

— 1,300

1.40390
(Note 2)

October 

21, 2024

Bullet 

repayment
(Note 3)

Unsecured and 

unguaranteed

Sumitomo Mitsui 

Banking Corporation
— 1,000

Sumitomo Mitsui Trust 

Bank, Limited
— 1,000

The Bank of Tokyo-

Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd.
— 900

The Mie Bank, Ltd. — 300

Total long-term loans — ¥63,000 ¥73,400 — — — — —

Total borrowings — ¥63,000 ¥75,400 — — — — —

Notes: 1. The average interest rate represents the weighted average of the interest rates of each loan agreement at period-end; reflects the use of swaps to 

hedge interest-rate risk.

 2. Weighted average that reflects the use of swaps to fix interest payments on variable rate loans.

 3. Used for acquisition of trust beneficiary interests in real estate.
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Investment Corporation Bonds

AEON REIT Investment Corporation issued investment corporation bonds in the amount of ¥2.0 billion (0.961% per 

annum, redemption on October 10, 2025) on October 13, 2015 to repay part of existing short-term borrowings (¥2.0 billion) 

with a due date of October 20, 2015. As of July 31, 2015, there were no investment corporation bonds.

Short-Term Investment Corporation Bonds

None

Capital Expenditures

Planned Capital Expenditures

AEON REIT is planning the following capital expenditures for significant repair work and other projects over ¥10 million 

for portfolio properties as of July 31, 2015. The amounts below include costs that will be expensed as incurred for 

accounting purposes.

Property Name (Location) Objective Estimated Duration

Estimated Cost of Work

(Millions of yen)

Total
Paid in 

5th Period

Cumulative 

Amount Paid

AEON MALL Sapporo-Hiraoka

(Sapporo-shi, Hokkaido)

Storage battery replacement
October 2015 to

November 2015
¥ 24 — —

Renovation of emergency public 

address amplifier
April 2016 to May 2016 15 — —

AEON MALL Kushiro-Showa

(Kushiro-shi, Hokkaido)

Renovation of automatic fire 

alarm system
June 2016 to July 2016 12 — —

AEON MALL Morioka 

(Morioka-shi, Iwate)

Store revitalization July 2015 to April 2016 997 — —

Renovation of air conditioning March 2016 to April 2016 29 — —

AEON MALL Mitouchihara

(Mito-shi, Ibaraki)
Exterior wall painting

November 2015 to

April 2016
300 — —

AEON MALL Ota

(Ota-shi, Gunma)
Exterior wall painting

December 2015 to 

May 2016
250 — —

AEON Sagamihara Shopping Center

(Sagamihara-shi, Kanagawa)

Renovation of automatic fire 

alarm system

September 2015 to

October 2015
19 — —

Renovation of air conditioning May 2016 to June 2016 46 — —

AEON MALL Ogaki

(Ogaki-shi, Gifu)
Ramp steel painting April 2016 to May 2016 21 — —

AEON MALL Suzuka

(Suzuka-shi, Mie)

Exterior wall painting (Phase 1)
October 2015 to 

December 2015
99 — —

Exterior wall painting (Phase 2)
February 2016 to 

April 2016
100 — —

AEON MALL Meiwa

(Taki-gun, Mie)
Renovation of air conditioning 

February 2016 to 

April 2016
10 — —

AEON MALL KYOTO

(Kyoto-shi, Kyoto)
Renovation of lighting equipment April 2016 to May 2016 15 — —

AEON MALL Kurashiki

(Kurashiki-shi, Okayama)

Renovation of air conditioning
October 2015 to

December 2015
59 — —

Exterior wall painting
February 2016 to 

April 2016
25 — —

AEON MALL Nogata 

(Nogata-shi, Fukuoka)

Ramp steel painting
December 2015 to 

January 2016 
47 — —

Exterior wall painting
February 2016 to 

June 2016
153 — —

AEON Mall Kumamoto 

(Kamimashiki-gun, Kumamoto)

Renovation of lighting equipment 

LEDs

August 2015 to 

September 2015
11 — —
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Capital Expenditures during the 5th Period

During the 5th Period ended July 31, 2015, significant capital expenditures for portfolio properties that exceeded ¥10 

million were as follows. We implemented projects totaling ¥1,144 million during the 5th Period, consisting of ¥798 million 

in capital expenditures and ¥346 million in repairs that were expensed as incurred.

Property Name (Location) Objective Duration
Cost of Work

 (Millions of yen)

AEON MALL Sapporo-Hiraoka 

(Sapporo-shi, Hokkaido)
Renovation of complex receivers July 2015 to July 2015 ¥ 27

AEON MALL Morioka

(Morioka-shi, Iwate)
Renovation of air conditioning 

March 2015 to 

April 2015
25

AEON MALL Ota 

(Ota-shi, Gunma)

Renovation of air conditioning
February 2015 to 

March 2015
25

Renovation of air conditioning
March 2015 to 

April 2015
23

AEON LakeTown kaze 

(Koshigaya-shi, Saitama) (Note) Store revitalization and repairs
February 2015 to

 April 2015
312

AEON Sagamihara Shopping Center

(Sagamihara-shi, Kanagawa)
Renovation of air conditioning April 2015 to June 2015 44

AEON MALL Suzuka 

(Suzuka-shi, Mie)

Work on extra-high-voltage power 

receiving and transforming system
May 2015 to May 2015 17

AEON MALL Meiwa 

(Taki-gun, Mie)
Installation of wind screens July 2015 to July 2015 10

AEON MALL Hiezu 

(Saihaku-gun, Tottori)
Store revitalization and repairs

February 2015 to 

April 2015
134

AEON MALL Kurashiki

(Kurashiki-shi, Okayama)
Renovation of air conditioning

March 2015 to 

April 2015
17

AEON MALL Ayagawa

(Ayauta-gun, Kagawa)
Exterior wall painting (Phase 2)

March 2015 to 

April 2015
45

AEON MALL Nogata

(Nogata-shi, Fukuoka)
Ramp steel painting July 2015 to July 2015 43

AEON MALL Kumamoto

(Kamimashiki-gun, Kumamoto)
Renovation of air conditioning April 2015 to April 2015 11

Note: AEON REIT holds 40% of trust beneficiary rights in real estate of AEON LakeTown kaze as a quasi-co-ownership interest (jun kyôyû mochibun). The 
amount in “Cost of Work” is the amount representing AEON REIT’s pro-rata portion of the quasi-co-ownership interest (jun kyôyû mochibun) in the 
trust beneficiary rights in real estate (40%).

Additions to Reserves for Long-Term Renovations

None
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Asset Management Expenses

(Thousands of yen)

4th Period 

August 1, 2014 to January 31, 2015

5th Period

February 1, 2015 to July 31, 2015

Asset management fees (Note 1) ¥330,683 ¥360,189

Asset management fee I (Note 2) 231,269 227,274

Asset management fee II (Note 3) 99,413 132,915

Asset custody fees 6,841 10,370

Agent fees 28,572 34,440

Directors’ remuneration 3,600 3,600

Other expenses 76,993 81,596

Total ¥446,690 ¥490,198

Notes: 1. Asset management fees above do not include fees paid upon acquisition or disposition of real estate that are calculated based on the purchase or 

sale price. Real estate acquisition fees and disposition fees totaled ¥123,219 thousand in the 5th Period.

 2. As per a separate agreement with the Asset Manager, we pay the Asset Manager a type I asset management fee (asset management fee I) for each 

fiscal period, rounded down to the nearest yen, of up to 0.3 percent of our total assets as stated in our balance sheet at the end of the immediately 

preceding period based on the actual number of days on a 365-day year basis. 

 3. We pay the Asset Manager a type II asset management fee (asset management fee II), rounded to the nearest yen, for each fiscal period. Asset 

management fee II is equal to (1) distribution per unit (before deduction of asset management fee II) multiplied by (2) net operating income, which 

is the total rental and other operating revenues earned during the fiscal period, less property-related expenses (not including depreciation expens-

es and loss on retirement of fixed assets), and multiplied by (3) up to 0.001 percent. In calculating asset management fee II, distribution per unit 

(before deduction of asset management fee II) equals income before income taxes, excluding asset management fee II and certain non-deductible 

consumption taxes, for such fiscal period calculated in accordance with Japanese GAAP, less any loss carried forward from the previous fiscal 

period divided by the number of units outstanding at period-end.

Transactions with Related Parties

(1) Purchase and Sale Transactions with Related Parties

Purchase or Sale Price (Millions of yen)

Purchase Price Sale Price

Total ¥35,375 ¥3

Breakdown of Transactions with Related Parties

AEON Mall Co., Ltd. 21,470 (60.7%) —

Total ¥21,470 (60.7%) ¥—

Note: The above table details transactions with related parties during the 5th Period. “Related parties” are defined as related parties of asset management 
companies under asset management agreement with AEON REIT as defined in Article 123 of Order for Enforcement of the Law Concerning Investment 
Trusts and Investment Corporations, and Article 26, Section 27 of the Regulations regarding management reports of investment trusts and investment 
corporations set by the Investment Trusts Association, Japan.

(2)  Leasing to Related Parties

Lessee Total Rent Received (Millions of yen)

AEON Retail Co., Ltd. ¥4,082

AEON Mall Co., Ltd. 4,448

AEON Hokkaido Corporation 608

AEON CO. (M) BHD. (Note) 23

(704,000RM)

Total ¥9,162

Note: The amount of total rent received is converted to Japanese yen using the exchange rate (the average exchange rate during the month prior to the 
transaction) at the time of the transaction.
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(3) Leasing from Related Parties

Lessor Total Rent Paid (Millions of yen)

AEON Retail Co., Ltd. ¥   724

AEON Mall Co., Ltd. 334

AEON Hokkaido Corporation 137

Total ¥1,196

(4) Fees Paid

Type of Fee
Total Fees (A)

(Thousands of yen)

Transactions with Related Parties

Recipient
Fees Paid (B)

(Thousands of yen)

Share of Total Fees 

(B/A) (%)

Management service fees ¥  25,679 AEON DELIGHT CO., LTD. ¥  6,437 25.1

Interest expense 546,588 AEON BANK, LTD. 7,824 1.4

Insurance expenses 22,819
AEON INSURANCE SERVICE 

CO., LTD.
22,504 98.6

Notes: 1. The above table includes fees paid for transactions with related parties of the asset management company during the 5th Period.

 2. In addition to the fees above, the amount paid to AEON DELIGHT CO., LTD. for repair work during the 5th Period was ¥377,611 thousand.

 3. Interest expense includes financial fees, interest paid and accrued interest.

 4. Amounts do not include consumption taxes.

Information Required under Article 22(2)(d) of the EU Alternative Investment Fund 
Managers Directive (AIFMD)

(1) Material Changes in Information Listed in Article 23 of AIFMD during the Financial Period Covered by the Report 

(Six-month fiscal period ended July 31, 2015)

None
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Risk Factors

An investment in our units involves significant risks. The principal risks with respect to investment in AEON 

REIT are as  follows.

Property and Business Risks

• Any adverse conditions in Japan’s retail industry or the Japanese economy could adversely affect us.

• We are dependent on the AEON Group for substantially all of our rental income; therefore, our financial 

condition and ability to make distributions may be adversely affected by lease terminations by, the bank-

ruptcy or insolvency of, or a downturn in the business of the AEON Group.

• Our reliance on the Sponsor and other AEON Group companies could have a material adverse effect on our 

business.

• There are potential conflicts of interest between us and certain AEON Group companies, including the 

Asset Manager.

• As the first J-REIT to hold a property outside of Japan, we are subject to uncertainties to which other 

J-REITs may not be subject, which may make it difficult to evaluate our prospects.

• We may not be able to acquire properties to execute our growth and investment strategy in a manner that is 

accretive to earnings.

• Illiquidity in the real estate market may limit our ability to grow or adjust our portfolio and our master 

lease agreements could make our investments more illiquid.

• The past experience of the AEON Group in the Japanese real estate market is not an indicator or guarantee 

of our future results.

• The high concentration of retail properties in our portfolio may entail special risks not shared by J-REITs 

that invest in a more diversified range of real estate or real estate-related assets.

• Any inability to obtain financing for future acquisitions could adversely affect the growth of our portfolio.

• Liquidity and other limitations on our activities under debt financing arrangements may adversely affect 

our business, financial condition and results of operations.

• Increases in prevailing market interest rates may increase our interest expense and may result in a decline 

in the market price of our units.

• A high LTV ratio may increase our exposure to changes in interest rates and have a material adverse effect 

on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

• We may suffer impairment losses relating to our properties.

• Decreases in master lessees’ leasehold deposits and/or security deposits may increase our funding costs.

• Any property defect may adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

• We may suffer large losses in the case of a natural or man-made disaster.

• We rely on expert appraisals and engineering, environmental and seismic reports, which are subject to 

significant uncertainties.

• We rely on industry and market data that are subject to significant uncertainties.

• We rely on third parties to evaluate the compliance of properties that we own or may acquire with building 

codes and earthquake standards, and we may suffer significant costs or incur sizable liabilities if any 

noncompliance is subsequently discovered.

• The environmental assessments of our properties made prior to our ownership may not uncover all envi-

ronmental liabilities, and Japanese laws subject property owners to strict environmental liabilities.

• Entering into forward commitment contracts or contracts to purchase properties under development may 

expose us to contractual penalties and market risks.

• Unitholders have limited control over changes in our investment policies.
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• Our success depends on the performance of service providers to which we are required to assign various 

key functions.

• Our performance depends on the efforts of key personnel of the Asset Manager.

• J-REITs and their asset managers are subject to tight supervision by the regulatory authorities.

• The Malaysian ringgit may be subject to exchange controls.

Taxation Risks

• Our failure to satisfy a complex series of requirements pursuant to Japanese tax regulations would disqualify 

us from certain taxation benefits and significantly reduce our cash distributions to our unitholders.

• If the Japanese tax authorities disagree with the interpretations of the Japanese tax laws and regulations we 

used for prior periods, we may be forced to pay additional taxes for those periods.

• We may not be able to benefit from reductions in certain transfer taxes enjoyed by qualified J-REITs.

• Changes in Japanese tax laws may significantly increase our tax burden.

• We may be subject to taxes in countries other than Japan due to our investments outside of Japan and our 

investors may not be able to take advantage of available credits associated with such taxes.

Legal and Regulatory Risks

• Our ownership rights in some of our properties may be declared invalid or limited.

• Our leasehold or subleasehold rights may be terminated or may not be asserted against a third party in 

some cases.

• Properties for which third parties hold leasehold interests in the land and own the buildings on the land 

may subject us to various risks.

• Some of the properties we acquire may be designated as reserved land (horyu-chi ) or provisionally allocat-

ed land (kari-kanchi ) and our rights relating to such properties may be affected by the operation of the 

Land Readjustment Act.

• We may from time to time own properties in the form of stratified ownership (kubun shoyu) interests and 

our rights relating to such properties may be affected by the rights and intentions of other owners.

• Some of the properties we may acquire may be held in the form of a property or trust beneficiary co-ownership 

interest, and our rights relating to such properties may be affected by the intentions of other owners.

• We may hold interests in some properties through preferred shares of a special purpose company (tokutei 

mokuteki kaisha) in the future, and illiquidity in the market for such shares may limit our ability to sell our 

interest, and our rights relating to the properties held by such special purpose companies may be limited.

• We may hold interests in some properties through Japanese anonymous association (tokumei kumiai ) 

agreements, and our rights relating to such properties may be limited.

• Our Malaysia property or any part of it may be acquired compulsorily.

• We will own most of our properties through trust beneficiary interests and may suffer losses as a trust 

beneficiary.

• There are important differences regarding the rights of unitholders in a J-REIT compared to those of shareholders 

in a corporation.

• Tax increases or adverse changes in applicable laws may affect our potential liabilities relating to our properties 

and operations.
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AEON REIT Investment Corporation
Balance Sheets
As of January 31, 2015 and July 31, 2015

(Thousands of yen) (Thousands of U.S. dollars)

Previous fiscal period

(As of January 31, 2015)

Current fiscal period

(As of July 31, 2015)

Current fiscal period

(As of July 31, 2015)

Assets

 Current assets

  Cash and deposits (Note 10) ¥    9,663,330 ¥    6,795,562 $     54,794

  Cash and deposits in trust (Note 10) 3,386,152 4,668,783 37,645 

  Prepaid expenses 317,875 318,094 2,564 

  Deferred tax assets (Note 9) 26  —  —

  Income taxes receivable 139 493 3 

  Consumption taxes receivable  — 1,270,899 10,247 

  Other 989 381 3 

  Total current assets 13,368,514 13,054,213 105,258 

 Non-current assets

  Property and equipment (Note 4)

   Land  — 107,708 868 

   Buildings in trust 90,883,140 110,462,096 890,679 

    Accumulated depreciation (5,378,755) (7,952,544) (64,123) 

    Buildings in trust, net 85,504,384 102,509,551 826,556 

   Structures in trust 769,522 801,705 6,464 

    Accumulated depreciation (209,294) (295,461) (2,382) 

    Structures in trust, net 560,228 506,244 4,081 

   Land in trust 51,269,929 63,430,093 511,450 

   Total property and equipment 137,334,542 166,553,598 1,342,957 

  Intangible assets (Note 4)

   Leasehold rights in trust 18,045,526 23,137,757 186,564 

   Total intangible assets 18,045,526 23,137,757 186,564 

  Investments and other assets

   Long-term prepaid expenses 864,674 903,427 7,284 

   Lease and guarantee deposits 10,000 10,000 80 

   Total investments and other assets 874,674 913,427 7,365 

  Total non-current assets 156,254,743 190,604,782 1,536,887 

 Deferred assets

  Investment unit issuance expenses 123,517 136,231 1,098 

  Total deferred assets 123,517 136,231 1,098 

 Total assets ¥169,746,775 ¥203,795,228 $1,643,244 

Liabilities

 Current liabilities

  Operating accounts payable ¥       264,248 ¥       644,234 $       5,194 

  Short-term loans payable (Notes 5 and 12)  — 2,000,000 16,126 

  Accounts payable - other 134,039 187,737 1,513 

  Accrued expenses 19,589 21,472 173 

  Income taxes payable 682 605 4 

  Accrued consumption taxes 205,608  —  —

  Other 9,899 11,925 96 

  Total current liabilities 634,066 2,865,975 23,108 

 Non-current liabilities

  Long-term loans payable (Notes 5 and 12) 63,000,000 73,400,000 591,840 

  Tenant leasehold and security deposits (Note 12)  — 2,628 21 

  Tenant leasehold and security deposits in trust (Note 12) 7,411,389 8,109,511 65,388 

  Total non-current liabilities 70,411,389 81,512,139 657,249 

 Total liabilities 71,045,456 84,378,114 680,358 

Net assets (Note 6)

 Unitholders’ equity

  Unitholders’ capital 96,351,350 116,447,057 938,937 

  Surplus

   Unappropriated retained earnings 2,349,969 2,970,056 23,948 

   Total surplus 2,349,969 2,970,056 23,948 

  Total unitholders’ equity 98,701,319 119,417,113 962,885 

 Total net assets 98,701,319 119,417,113 962,885 

Total liabilities and net assets ¥169,746,775 ¥203,795,228 $1,643,244 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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AEON REIT Investment Corporation
Statements of Income
For the six-month periods ended January 31, 2015 and July 31, 2015

(Thousands of yen) (Thousands of U.S. dollars)

Previous fiscal period

(From August 1, 2014

to January 31, 2015)

Current fiscal period

(From February 1, 2015 to 

July 31, 2015)

Current fiscal period

(From February 1, 2015 to 

July 31, 2015)

Operating revenue

 Rent revenue - real estate (Note 8) ¥7,422,632 ¥9,163,638 $73,888 

 Gain on sales of real estate properties (Note 8)  — 611 4 

 Total operating revenue 7,422,632 9,164,250 73,893 

Operating expenses

 Expenses related to rent business (Note 8) 4,165,832 5,168,792 41,677 

 Asset management fee 330,683 360,189 2,904 

 Asset custody fee 6,841 10,370 83 

 Administrative service fees 28,572 34,440 277 

 Directors’ compensations 3,600 3,600 29 

 Taxes and dues 98 1,398 11 

 Other operating expenses 76,894 80,198 646 

 Total operating expenses 4,612,522 5,658,990 45,629 

Operating income 2,810,110 3,505,259 28,263 

Non-operating income

 Interest income 2,917 2,842 22 

 Compensation income  — 1,852 14 

 Other  — 62 0 

 Total non-operating income 2,917 4,758 38 

Non-operating expenses

 Interest expenses 301,487 345,084 2,782 

 Amortization of investment unit issuance expenses 35,290 44,891 361 

 Borrowing related expenses 122,957 139,218 1,122 

 Other 182 2,595 20 

 Total non-operating expenses 459,917 531,789 4,287 

Ordinary income 2,353,109 2,978,228 24,014 

Income before income taxes 2,353,109 2,978,228 24,014 

Income taxes - current (Note 9) 3,375 8,765 70 

Income taxes - deferred (Note 9) (17) 26 0 

Total income taxes 3,357 8,791 70 

Net income 2,349,751 2,969,437 23,943 

Retained earnings brought forward 217 619 4 

Unappropriated retained earnings (Note 7) ¥2,349,969 ¥2,970,056 $23,948 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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AEON REIT Investment Corporation
Statements of Changes in Net Assets
For the six-month periods ended January 31, 2015 and July 31, 2015

Previous fiscal period (From August 1, 2014 to January 31, 2015)

(Thousands of yen)

Unitholders’ equity

Total net assetsUnitholders’ capital

Surplus

Total unitholders’ 

equity

Unappropriated 

retained earnings Total surplus

Balance at beginning of current period ¥96,351,350 ¥ 2,338,167 ¥ 2,338,167 ¥98,689,517 ¥98,689,517

Changes of items during period

 Dividends of surplus (2,337,950) (2,337,950) (2,337,950) (2,337,950)

 Net income 2,349,751 2,349,751 2,349,751 2,349,751

Total changes of items during period  — 11,801 11,801 11,801 11,801

Balance at end of current period ¥96,351,350 ¥ 2,349,969 ¥ 2,349,969 ¥98,701,319 ¥98,701,319

Current fiscal period (From February 1, 2015 to July 31, 2015)

(Thousands of yen)

Unitholders’ equity

Total net assetsUnitholders’ capital

Surplus

Total unitholders’ 

equity

Unappropriated 

retained earnings Total surplus

Balance at beginning of current period ¥  96,351,350 ¥ 2,349,969 ¥ 2,349,969 ¥  98,701,319 ¥  98,701,319

Changes of items during period

 Issuance of new investment units 20,095,707 20,095,707 20,095,707

 Dividends of surplus (2,349,350) (2,349,350) (2,349,350) (2,349,350)

 Net income 2,969,437 2,969,437 2,969,437 2,969,437

Total changes of items during period 20,095,707 620,087 620,087 20,715,794 20,715,794

Balance at end of current period ¥116,447,057 ¥ 2,970,056 ¥ 2,970,056 ¥119,417,113 ¥119,417,113

Current fiscal period (From February 1, 2015 to July 31, 2015)

(Thousands of U.S. dollars)

Unitholders’ equity

Total net assetsUnitholders’ capital

Surplus

Total unitholders’ 

equity

Unappropriated 

retained earnings Total surplus

Balance at beginning of current period $776,901 $ 18,948 $ 18,948 $795,850 $795,850 

Changes of items during period

 Issuance of new investment units 162,036 162,036 162,036 

 Dividends of surplus (18,943) (18,943) (18,943) (18,943) 

 Net income 23,943 23,943 23,943 23,943 

Total changes of items during period 162,036 4,999 4,999 167,035 167,035 

Balance at end of current period $938,937 $ 23,948 $ 23,948 $962,885 $962,885 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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AEON REIT Investment Corporation
Statements of Cash Flows
For the six-month periods ended January 31, 2015 and July 31, 2015

(Thousands of yen) (Thousands of U.S. dollars)

Previous fiscal period

(From August 1, 2014

to January 31, 2015)

Current fiscal period

(From February 1, 2015

to July 31, 2015)

Current fiscal period

(From February 1, 2015

to July 31, 2015)

Cash flows from operating activities

 Income before income taxes ¥  2,353,109 ¥   2,978,228 $   24,014 

 Depreciation 2,245,716 2,659,956 21,447 

 Amortization of investment unit issuance expenses 35,290 44,891 361 

 Interest income (2,917) (2,842) (22) 

 Interest expenses 301,487 345,084 2,782 

 Increase in consumption taxes refund receivable  — (1,270,899) (10,247) 

 Decrease in accrued consumption taxes (242,988) (205,608) (1,657) 

 Increase in prepaid expenses (31,011) (218) (1) 

 Increase in operating accounts payable 100,723 278,835 2,248 

 (Decrease) increase  in accounts payable - other (3,389) 53,698 432 

 Decrease (increase) in long-term prepaid expenses 121,456 (38,752) (312) 

 Decrease in property and equipment in trust due to sale  — 3,237 26 

 Other, net (1,064) 2,169 17 

 Subtotal 4,876,414 4,847,779 39,088 

 Interest income received 2,994 2,461 19 

 Interest expenses paid (298,294) (343,201) (2,767) 

 Income taxes paid (3,550) (9,195) (74) 

 Net cash provided by operating activities 4,577,563 4,497,843 36,267 

Cash flows from investing activities

 Purchase of property and equipment  — (107,708) (868) 

 Purchase of property and equipment in trust (483,999) (31,673,390) (255,389) 

 Purchase of intangible assets in trust  — (5,092,230) (41,059) 

 Proceeds from tenant leasehold and security deposits  — 2,628 21 

 Proceeds from tenant leasehold and security deposits in trust  — 698,122 5,629 

 Net cash used in investing activities (483,999) (36,172,578) (291,667) 

Cash flows from financing activities

 Proceeds from short-term loans payable  — 2,000,000 16,126 

 Proceeds from long-term loans payable  — 10,400,000 83,857 

 Proceeds from issuance of investment units  — 20,038,101 161,571 

 Dividends paid (2,332,545) (2,348,572) (18,937) 

 Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (2,332,545) 30,089,528 242,618 

Effect of exchange rate change on cash and cash equivalents (203) 69 0 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,760,815 (1,585,137) (12,781) 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 11,288,667 13,049,482 105,220 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period (Note 10) ¥13,049,482 ¥ 11,464,345 $   92,439 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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AEON REIT Investment Corporation
Notes to Financial Statements
For the six-month periods ended January 31, 2015 and July 31, 2015

1. Organization

AEON REIT Investment Corporation (the “Company”) is a real estate investment trust mainly investing in retail proper-

ties that form local communities’ retail business infrastructure.

The Company was established on November 30, 2012 under the Act on Investment Trusts and Investment 

Corporations of Japan (the “Investment Trust Act”) and registered with the Kanto Local Finance Bureau on December 

20, 2012.

On November 22, 2013, the Company was listed on the real estate investment trust securities market of Tokyo Stock 

Exchange, and it acquired 16 properties operated by the AEON Group on November 22 and November 25, 2013 and 

commenced its investment operations.

On February 18, 2015, the Company acquired five properties (AEON MALL Sapporo-Hiraoka, AEON MALL Kushiro-

Showa, AEON MALL Rifu, AEON MALL Yamagata-Minami, and AEON MALL Yokkaichi-Kita) using proceeds from the 

issuance of new investment units in February 2015, new borrowings, and other funds. Also, on February 27, 2015, the 

Company acquired AEON MALL KYOTO, thereby expanding the portfolio size, bolstering earning capacity, and widening 

areas where the Company holds properties to 17 prefectures in Japan.

As of July 31, 2015, the Company held 23 properties in Japan and overseas, and total acquisition cost of which is 

¥194.3 billion ($1.5 billion).

2. Basis of Presentation

The Company maintains its books of accounts in accordance with the provisions set forth in the Investment Trust Act, 

the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act of Japan and other related accounting regulations and in conformity with 

accounting principles generally accepted in Japan, which are different in certain respects as to application and disclo-

sure requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards. The accompanying financial statements have been 

compiled from the financial statements that were filed with the Director of the Kanto Local Finance Bureau as required 

by the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act of Japan. In preparing the accompanying financial statements, certain 

rearrangements have been made to the financial statements issued domestically in order to present them in a form 

that is more familiar to readers outside Japan.

The accompanying financial statements are stated in Japanese yen, the currency of the country in which the 

Company is incorporated and operates. As permitted by the regulation under the Financial Instruments and Exchange 

Act of Japan, amounts of less than one thousand yen have been omitted. As a result, the totals shown in the accompa-

nying financial statements in yen do not necessarily agree with the sums of the individual amounts.

The translations of Japanese yen amounts into U.S. dollar amounts are included solely for the convenience of readers 

outside Japan and have been made at the rate of ¥124.02 to $1, the approximate rate of exchange at July 31, 2015. Such 

translations should not be construed as representations that the Japanese yen amounts have been, could have been, or 

could in the future be, converted into U.S. dollars at that or any other rate.

The Company does not prepare consolidated financial statements as it has no subsidiaries. The Company has six-

month fiscal periods ending January 31 and July 31 of each calendar year.

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation of property and equipment is computed by the straight-line 

method over the following useful lives:

Buildings in trust 3 to 41 years

Structures in trust 3 to 35 years
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(b) Long-term Prepaid Expenses

Long-term prepaid expenses are amortized by the straight-line method.

(c) Foreign Currency Translation

Receivables and payables denominated in foreign currencies are translated into yen at the exchange rate in effect at the 

balance sheet date, and differences arising from the translation are included in the statements of income.

(d)  Investment Unit Issuance Expenses

Investment unit issuance expenses are capitalized and amortized by the straight-line method over three years.

(e) Income Taxes

The asset and liability approach is used to recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax 

consequences of temporary differences between the carrying amounts and the tax bases of assets and liabilities. 

Deferred taxes are measured by applying currently enacted tax laws to the temporary differences.

(f) Consumption Taxes

National and local consumption taxes are excluded from transaction amounts.

(g) Property-related Taxes

Property-related taxes, such as fixed asset tax, city planning tax, and depreciable asset tax, are imposed on real property 

held on a calendar year basis. The amount of such taxes assessed and determined by the local government that corresponds 

to the respective fiscal period is charged to expense as expenses related to rent business.

Generally, the seller of a property is liable for property-related taxes for the calendar year in which the property is 

disposed and is reimbursed by the buyer for a tax amount calculated from the date of disposal through the end of the 

calendar year. The tax amount is not charged to expense but capitalized as part of the acquisition cost for the respective 

property.

Capitalized property-related taxes for the six-month period ended July 31, 2015 are ¥450,326 thousand ($3,631 thousand).

(h) Revenue Recognition

Revenue from leasing of retail space includes fixed rental revenue and the amount equivalent to fixed asset tax, city 

planning tax, and depreciable asset tax, which are all recognized on an accrual basis over the life of each lease.

(i) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, cash in trust, demand deposits, deposits in trust, and highly liquid 

short-term investments that are readily convertible, bear little risk in price fluctuations, and mature within three 

months from the date of acquisition.

 

(j) Hedge Accounting

The Company enters into derivative transactions for the purpose of hedging risks defined in the Articles of 

Incorporation of the Company pursuant to the regulations that stipulate the basic policy of risk management. The 

Company hedges the risks of fluctuation in interest rates on borrowings using interest rate swaps.

The Company applies the exceptional treatment where interest rate swaps that qualify for hedge accounting and 

meet specific criteria are not remeasured at fair value but differentials paid or received under swap agreements are 

recognized and included in interest expenses or income. The Company does not assess hedge effectiveness since the 

interest rate swaps meet the criteria required for such exceptional treatment.

(k) Accounting Treatment for Trust Beneficiary Rights in Real Estate

For trust beneficiary rights in real estate, all assets and liabilities with respect to assets in trust as well as all revenues 

generated and expenses incurred with respect to assets in trust are recorded in the relevant accounts for balance 

sheets and statements of income of the accompanying financial statements.
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4. Investment and Rental Property

The Company holds retail properties for rental purposes. The following table shows the carrying amount and fair value 

of these rental properties for the six-month periods ended January 31, 2015 and July 31, 2015.

As of / For the six-month period ended

January 31, 2015 July 31, 2015 July 31, 2015

(Thousands of yen) (Thousands of U.S. dollars)

Carrying amount(i)

Balance at beginning of period ¥157,183,225 ¥155,380,069 $1,252,862 

Changes during period(ii)(iii) (1,803,155) 34,311,286 276,659 

Balance at end of period ¥155,380,069 ¥189,691,355 $1,529,522 

Fair value at end of period(iv) ¥169,171,400 ¥206,311,800 $1,663,536 

Notes: (i) The carrying amount is stated at acquisition cost less accumulated depreciation.

 (ii) Of the changes during the period for the six-month period ended January 31, 2015, the increase is mainly due to capital expenditures such as 

external wall painting of the current properties amounting to ¥429,890 thousand and an increase in land from the final order for the actual alloca-

tion amounting to ¥12,670 thousand, while the decrease is principally attributable to depreciation amounting to ¥2,245,716 thousand.

 (iii) Of the changes during the period for the six-month period ended July 31, 2015, the increase is mainly due to the acquisition of six properties, 

AEON MALL KYOTO, AEON MALL Sapporo-Hiraoka, AEON MALL Kushiro-Showa, AEON MALL Rifu, AEON MALL Yamagata-Minami and AEON 

MALL Yokkaichi-Kita, amounting to ¥35,906,307 thousand ($289,520 thousand), an increase in land in trust from the final order for the actual allo-

cation amounting to ¥161,873 thousand ($1,305 thousand), an increase due to the acquisition of land of ¥107,708 thousand ($868  thousand) and 

capital expenditures such as repair work to invigorate stores of current properties of ¥798,591 thousand ($6,439 thousand), while the decrease is 

principally attributable to depreciation amounting to ¥2,659,956 thousand ($21,447 thousand) and the sale of land in trust of ¥3,237 thousand ($26 

thousand).

 (iv) The fair value at the end of the period is the sum of the appraisal or survey values provided by an independent real estate appraiser.

Please refer to “8. Revenues and Expenses Related to Real Estate Leasing Business” for revenues and expenses related 

to investment and rental property.

5. Short-term Loans Payable and Long-term Loans Payable

Short-term loans payable and long-term loans payable outstanding as of January 31, 2015 and July 31, 2015 are as follows:

As of

Average interest rate(i) January 31, 2015 July 31, 2015 July 31, 2015

(%) (Thousands of yen) (Thousands of U.S. dollars)

Short-term loans payable

Unsecured loans due on 

October 20, 2015
0.41444 ¥               — ¥  2,000,000 $  16,126 

Subtotal  — 2,000,000 16,126 

Long-term loans payable

Unsecured loans due on 

October 20, 2016
0.42568 9,000,000 9,000,000 72,568 

Unsecured loans due on 

October 22, 2018
0.78125(ii) 27,000,000 27,000,000 217,706 

Unsecured loans due on 

October 20, 2020
1.17250(ii) 22,000,000 22,000,000 177,390 

Unsecured loans due on 

October 20, 2023
1.76375(ii) 5,000,000 5,000,000 40,316 

Unsecured loans due on 

October 20, 2017
0.41444  — 700,000 5,644 

Unsecured loans due on 

October 21, 2019
0.61910(ii)  — 1,200,000 9,675 

Unsecured loans due on 

October 20, 2021
0.88915(ii)  — 4,000,000 32,252 

Unsecured loans due on 

October 21, 2024
1.40390(ii)  — 4,500,000 36,284 

Subtotal 63,000,000 73,400,000 591,840 

Total ¥63,000,000 ¥75,400,000 $607,966 

Notes: (i) The average interest rate represents the weighted average during the current fiscal period based on the number of days and the outstanding 

balance of the loans payable.

 (ii) The interest rates represented are the rates which were hedged by interest-rate swaps for the purpose of avoiding interest rate fluctuation risk.
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6. Net Assets

In accordance with the Investment Trust Act, investment units issued by the Company shall have non-par value, and 

when the Company has issued an investment unit after its establishment, it shall incorporate the total amount to be 

paid in for the investment unit into unitholders’ capital in net assets. In addition, the Company shall maintain its net 

assets of ¥50,000 thousand or more in accordance with the Investment Trust Act.

The total number of investment units which the Company is authorized to issue is 10,000,000 units, and the total 

number of investment units issued and outstanding as of January 31, 2015 and July 31, 2015 are 950,000 units and 

1,090,200 units, respectively.

7. Appropriation of Retained Earnings

Pursuant to the policy on the distribution of funds in Article 35, Paragraph 1 of the Articles of Incorporation of the 

Company, distributions shall be limited to the amount of profit and exceed 90% of the distributable profit of the 

Company as stipulated in Article 67-15 of the Act on Special Measures Concerning Taxation.

For the six-month periods ended January 31, 2015 and July 31, 2015, the Company has decided to distribute 

¥2,349,350 thousand and ¥2,969,704 thousand ($23,945 thousand), respectively, which are the amounts that do not 

exceed the unappropriated retained earnings and are the greatest value among integral multiples of 950,000 and 

1,090,200, respectively, which are the numbers of investment units issued. The Company will not make cash distribu-

tions in excess of the amount of profit defined in Article 35, Paragraph 2 of the Articles of Incorporation of the Company.

Distributions of retained earnings for the six-month periods ended January 31, 2015 and July 31, 2015 are as follows:

For the six-month period ended

January 31, 2015 July 31, 2015 July 31, 2015

(Thousands of yen) (Thousands of U.S. dollars)

Unappropriated retained earnings ¥2,349,969 ¥2,970,056 $23,948 

Distributions 2,349,350 2,969,704 23,945 

Retained earnings brought forward ¥          619 ¥          351 $         2 

Distributions per investment unit for the six-month periods ended January 31, 2015 and July 31, 2015 are ¥2,473 and 

¥2,724 ($21), respectively.
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8. Revenues and Expenses Related to Real Estate Leasing Business

Revenues and expenses related to real estate leasing business for the six-month periods ended January 31, 2015 and 

July 31, 2015 consist of the following:

For the six-month period ended

January 31, 2015 July 31, 2015 July 31, 2015

(Thousands of yen) (Thousands of U.S. dollars)

Revenues related to real estate leasing business

Rent revenue - real estate

Rent ¥7,419,887 ¥9,162,254 $73,877 

Other lease business revenue - real estate 2,744 1,383 11 

Total revenues related to real estate leasing business ¥7,422,632 ¥9,163,638 $73,888 

Expenses related to real estate leasing business

Expenses related to rent business

Property and facility management fees ¥     18,339 ¥     25,679 $     207 

Repairs and maintenance expenses 182,903 346,012 2,789 

Insurance expenses 41,120 48,892 394 

Trust fees 9,733 12,402 100 

Land rent paid 764,357 1,196,635 9,648 

Taxes and dues 901,764 876,620 7,068 

Depreciation 2,245,716 2,659,956 21,447 

Other expenses related to rent business 1,896 2,591 20 

Total expenses related to real estate leasing business ¥4,165,832 ¥5,168,792 $41,677 

Operating income from real estate leasing business ¥3,256,800 ¥3,994,846 $32,211 

Gain on sales of real estate properties for the six-month periods ended January 31, 2015 and July 31, 2015 consists of 

the following:

For the six-month period ended

January 31, 2015 July 31, 2015 July 31, 2015

(Thousands of yen) (Thousands of U.S. dollars)

(Portion of land of AEON MALL Nogata)

Proceeds from sales of real estate properties ¥— ¥3,867 $31 

Cost of sales of real estate properties — 3,237 26 

Other expenses related to sales — 19 0 

Gain on sales of real estate properties ¥— ¥   611 $  4 
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9. Income Taxes

The Company is subject to Japanese income taxes at a statutory rate of approximately 34.16% and 34.15% for the six-

month periods ended January 31, 2015 and July 31, 2015, respectively.

The following table shows reconciliation between the statutory tax rate and effective tax rate for the six-month 

periods ended January 31, 2015 and July 31, 2015.

For the six-month period ended

January 31, 2015 July 31, 2015

(%)

Statutory tax rate 34.16 34.15

Deductible cash distributions (34.11) (34.05)

Other 0.09 0.19

Effective tax rate 0.14 0.30

The Act for Partial Revision of the Income Tax Act, etc. (Act No. 9 of 2015) was promulgated on March 31, 2015. With this 

revision, the corporate income tax rate was lowered from the fiscal period beginning on or after April 1, 2015. In con-

junction with this, for temporary differences expected to be reversed in the fiscal period beginning on August 1, 2015, 

the  statutory tax rate used to calculate deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities was changed from the previous 

rate of 34.15% to 32.31%. There is no impact of this change on the financial statements.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities consist of the following:

As of

January 31, 2015 July 31, 2015 July 31, 2015

(Thousands of yen) (Thousands of U.S. dollars)

Deferred tax assets

Enterprise taxes payable excluded from 

deductible expenses
¥26 ¥— $—

Total 26 — —

Net deferred tax assets ¥26 ¥— $—

10. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents as of January 31, 2015 and July 31, 2015 consist of the following:

As of

January 31, 2015 July 31, 2015 July 31, 2015

(Thousands of yen) (Thousands of U.S. dollars)

Cash and deposits ¥  9,663,330 ¥  6,795,562 $54,794 

Cash and deposits in trust 3,386,152 4,668,783 37,645 

Cash and cash equivalents ¥13,049,482 ¥11,464,345 $92,439 

11. Leases

The Company leases its retail properties to tenants. The future minimum lease payments to be received under non-

cancelable operating leases of properties as of January 31, 2015 and July 31, 2015 are as follows:

As of

January 31, 2015 July 31, 2015 July 31, 2015

(Thousands of yen) (Thousands of U.S. dollars)

Due within 1 year ¥  14,841,764 ¥  18,775,224 $   151,388 

Due after 1 year 90,727,383 106,071,819 855,279 

Total ¥105,569,147 ¥124,847,044 $1,006,668 
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12. Financial Instruments

(a) States of Financial Instruments

(i) Policy for financial instruments

The Company’s basic policy is to execute a stable, flexible and efficient financial strategy. It procures funds by borrowing, 

issuing investment corporation bonds (including short-term investment corporation bonds) and investment units and 

other means for purposes including portfolio growth through property acquisitions.

The Company enters into derivative transactions only to hedge risks such as risk of fluctuations in interest rates associated 

with borrowings and exchange rate fluctuation risk associated with operating receivables and payables denominated in 

foreign currencies.

(ii) Nature and extent of risks arising from financial instruments and risk management

Loans payable are used mainly for acquiring real estate and trust beneficiary rights in real estate.

Tenant leasehold and security deposits in trust are deposits received from tenants under lease agreements.

Loans payable with floating interest rates are exposed to the risk of fluctuations in interest rates. However, by appro-

priately managing the debt ratio, etc., it is possible to limit the impact of a rise in market interest rates on the 

Company’s operations. Furthermore, for some of the loans payable with floating interest rates, derivative transactions 

(interest rate swaps) are utilized as hedging instruments in order to hedge the risk of fluctuations in interest rates and 

to fix interest expenses. The hedge effectiveness of interest rate swaps is assessed by comparing the cumulative 

changes in cash flows of hedging instruments and hedged items and based on the respective amount of changes. 

However, the assessment of hedge effectiveness is omitted for those interest rate swaps that meet the criteria for 

exceptional treatment.

Derivative transactions are conducted and managed in accordance with internal regulations that specify the basic 

policy for risk management. Loans payable and tenant leasehold and security deposits in trust are exposed to liquidity 

risks. However, the Company manages these risks through preparing monthly financing plans, maintaining liquidity, 

and other means by its asset manager.

Operating receivables denominated in foreign currencies associated with the acquisition of overseas properties are 

exposed to the risk of fluctuations in exchange rates. However, since the percentage of these receivables to total assets 

is low, they are handled under a system in which the asset manager monitors the risk and examines the necessity of 

hedging it with the use of derivative transactions such as forward foreign exchange contract transactions.

(iii) Supplementary explanations on fair values of financial instruments

The fair values of financial instruments include values based on market prices or reasonably calculated values if there 

are no market prices available. As certain assumptions are used in calculating these values, if different assumptions 

are used, these values could vary.
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(b) Fair Values of Financial Instruments

The following table shows carrying amounts, fair values, and unrealized gains or losses of financial instruments as of 

January 31, 2015 and July 31, 2015. Financial instruments whose fair values are extremely difficult to determine are not 

included in the following table. Please refer to Note (ii) below.

As of

January 31, 2015 July 31, 2015 July 31, 2015

Carrying 
amount

Fair 
value

Unrealized 
gain (loss)

Carrying 
amount

Fair 
value

Unrealized 
gain (loss)

Carrying 
amount

Fair 
value

Unrealized 
gain (loss)

(Thousands of yen) (Thousands of U.S. dollars)

Assets

(1) Cash and deposits ¥  9,663,330 ¥  9,663,330 ¥              — ¥  6,795,562 ¥  6,795,562 ¥              — $  54,794 $  54,794 $       —

(2) Cash and deposits in trust 3,386,152 3,386,152               — 4,668,783 4,668,783 — 37,645 37,645 —

Total ¥13,049,482 ¥13,049,482 ¥              — ¥11,464,345 ¥11,464,345 ¥              — $  92,439 $  92,439 $       —

Liabilities

(3) Short-term loans payable ¥               — ¥               — ¥              — ¥  2,000,000 ¥  2,000,000 ¥              — $  16,126 $  16,126 $       —

(4) Long-term loans payable 63,000,000 64,016,719 (1,016,719) 73,400,000 74,595,531 (1,195,531) 591,840 601,479 (9,639)

Total ¥63,000,000 ¥64,016,719 ¥(1,016,719) ¥75,400,000 ¥76,595,531 ¥(1,195,531) $607,966 $617,606 $(9,639)

(5) Derivative transactions ¥               — ¥               — ¥              — ¥               — ¥               — ¥              — $          — $          — $       —

Notes:  (i) Methods used to calculate fair values of financial instruments

    Assets

    (1)  Cash and deposits and (2) Cash and deposits in trust

The carrying amounts of these items approximate fair values because of their short maturities.

    Liabilities

    (3)  Short-term loans payable

The carrying amount of short-term loans payable approximates fair value because of their short maturities.

    (4)  Long-term loans payable

Because interest rates of long-term loans payable with floating interest rates are to be revised periodically, their carrying amounts approximate 

fair values. Fair value of long-term loans payable with fixed interest rates is calculated by discounting the total of principal and interest 

at the rate assumed when a new, similar loan corresponding to the remaining period is made. Fair value of interest rate swaps, to which 

the exceptional treatment is applied, is included in the fair value of long-term loans payable, a hedged item.

    (5)  Derivative transactions

Please refer to “13. Derivatives” described below.

  (ii) Carrying amount of financial instruments whose fair value is extremely difficult to determine

As of

January 31, 2015 July 31, 2015 July 31, 2015

(Thousands of yen) (Thousands of U.S. dollars)

Tenant leasehold and security deposits ¥             — ¥       2,628 $       21 

Tenant leasehold and security deposits in trust 7,411,389 8,109,511 65,388 

Total ¥7,411,389 ¥8,112,139 $65,409 

 

Tenant leasehold and security deposits in trust that are deposited by lessees of rental properties are not subject to fair value disclosure 

because their fair values are extremely difficult to determine as there are no market prices available and it is not possible to reasonably esti-

mate their future cash flows.
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  (iii) Redemption schedule for monetary claims

Due in 1 year 
or less

Due after 
1 year through 

2 years

Due after 
2 years through 

3 years

Due after 
3 years through 

4 years

Due after 
4 years through 

5 years
Due after 

5 years

As of January 31, 2015 (Thousands of yen)

Cash and deposits ¥  9,663,330 ¥— ¥— ¥— ¥— ¥—

Cash and deposits in trust 3,386,152 — — — — —

Total ¥13,049,482 ¥— ¥— ¥— ¥— ¥—

Due in 1 year 
or less

Due after 
1 year through 

2 years

Due after 
2 years through 

3 years

Due after 
3 years through 

4 years

Due after 
4 years through 

5 years
Due after 

5 years

As of July 31, 2015 (Thousands of yen)

Cash and deposits ¥  6,795,562 ¥— ¥— ¥— ¥— ¥—

Cash and deposits in trust 4,668,783 — — — — —

Total ¥11,464,345 ¥— ¥— ¥— ¥— ¥—

Due in 1 year 
or less

Due after 
1 year through 

2 years

Due after 
2 years through 

3 years

Due after 
3 years through 

4 years

Due after 
4 years through 

5 years
Due after 

5 years

As of July 31, 2015 (Thousands of U.S. dollars)

Cash and deposits $54,794 $— $— $— $— $—

Cash and deposits in trust 37,645 — — — — —

Total $92,439 $— $— $— $— $—

  (iv) Repayment schedule for loans payable

Due in 1 year 
or less

Due after 
1 year through 

2 years

Due after 
2 years through 

3 years

Due after 
3 years through 

4 years

Due after 
4 years through 

5 years
Due after 

5 years

As of January 31, 2015 (Thousands of yen)

Long-term loans payable ¥— ¥9,000,000 ¥— ¥27,000,000 ¥— ¥27,000,000

Total ¥— ¥9,000,000 ¥— ¥27,000,000 ¥— ¥27,000,000

Due in 1 year 
or less

Due after 
1 year through 

2 years

Due after 
2 years through 

3 years

Due after 
3 years through 

4 years

Due after 
4 years through 

5 years
Due after 

5 years

As of July 31, 2015 (Thousands of yen)

Short-term loans payable ¥2,000,000 ¥             — ¥          — ¥               — ¥             — ¥                —

Long-term loans payable — 9,000,000 700,000 27,000,000 1,200,000 35,500,000

Total ¥2,000,000 ¥9,000,000 ¥700,000 ¥27,000,000 ¥1,200,000 ¥35,500,000

Due in 1 year 
or less

Due after 
1 year through 

2 years

Due after 
2 years through 

3 years

Due after 
3 years through 

4 years

Due after 
4 years through 

5 years
Due after 

5 years

As of July 31, 2015 (Thousands of U.S. dollars)

Short-term loans payable $16,126 $        — $      — $          — $      — $          —

Long-term loans payable — 72,568 5,644 217,706 9,675 286,244 

Total $16,126 $72,568 $5,644 $217,706 $9,675 $286,244 
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13. Derivatives

The following table shows derivative transactions, to which hedge accounting is applied, as of January 31, 2015 and July 

31, 2015. The Company enters into derivative transactions only for hedging purposes.

As of January 31, 2015

Method of hedge 
accounting Type Hedged item

Contract amount

Fair valueTotal
Due after 1 

year

(Thousands of yen)

Exceptional treat-

ment for hedge 

accounting of inter-

est rate swaps

Interest rate swaps

(fixed rate payment, 

floating rate receipt)

Long-term loans 

payable
¥54,000,000 ¥54,000,000 (Note)

As of July 31, 2015

Method of hedge 
accounting Type Hedged item

Contract amount

Fair value

Contract amount

Fair valueTotal
Due after 1 

year Total
Due after 1 

year

(Thousands of yen) (Thousands of U.S. dollars)

Exceptional treat-

ment for hedge 

accounting of inter-

est rate swaps

Interest rate swaps

(fixed rate payment, 

floating rate receipt)

Long-term loans 

payable
¥63,700,000 ¥63,700,000 (Note) $513,626 $513,626 (Note)

(Note) Interest rate swaps, to which exceptional treatment is applied, are accounted for as a single unit with the hedged item, long-term loans payable. Thus, 

the fair value of the interest rate swaps is included in the fair value of “(4) Long-term loans payable” in “12. Financial Instruments, (b) Fair Values of 

Financial Instruments.”
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14. Related Party Transactions

As of / For the six-month period ended January 31, 2015

Attribute Name Location

Capital stock or 
investments in 

capital 
(Millions of yen) Business or occupation

Ownership of voting 
rights (%)

Subsidiary of other 

affiliates

AEON Reit 

Management Co., 

Ltd.

Chiyoda City, Tokyo ¥     350 Investment management 

business

—

Subsidiary of other 

affiliates

AEON Retail Co., 

Ltd.

Chiba City, Chiba 

Pref.

¥48,970 Retail business —

Subsidiary of other 

affiliates

AEON Mall Co., 

Ltd.

Chiba City, Chiba 

Pref.

¥42,207 Real estate business —

Subsidiary of other 

affiliates

AEON BANK, LTD. Koto City, Tokyo ¥51,250 Banking business —

Subsidiary of other 

affiliates

AEON CO. (M) 

BHD.

Kuala Lumpur, 

Malaysia

702 million 

RM

Retail business —

Officer Kenji Kawahara — — Executive Director of the 

Company and Representative 

Director and President of AEON 

Reit Management Co., Ltd.

(owned) 

Direct 

0.0%

Notes: (i) The amount of transaction does not include consumption taxes.

 (ii) Transaction terms are determined through price negotiations based on current market prices.

 (iii) Amount of transaction is converted to Japanese yen based on the exchange rate at the time of the transaction (based on the average spot 

exchange rate of the month preceding the month in which the transaction was carried out).
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Relationship

Nature of transaction
Amount of transaction 

(Thousands of yen) Account
Ending balance 

(Thousands of yen) Interlocking officers Business relationship

One officer Asset manager Payment of asset 

management fee

¥   330,683 

(i) (ii)

Accounts 

payable - other

¥   107,389

— Lessee and recipient 

of land rent payment

Rent revenue-real 

estate

¥3,538,328 

(i) (ii)

Tenant leasehold 

and security 

deposits in trust

¥3,552,595

Land rent paid, etc. ¥   430,196 

(i) (ii)

— —

— Lessee and recipient 

of land rent payment

Rent revenue-real 

estate

¥3,858,083 

(i) (ii)

Tenant leasehold 

and security 

deposits in trust

¥3,858,794

Land rent paid, etc. ¥   334,161 

(i) (ii)

— —

— Lender Interest expenses ¥       6,103 

(i) (ii)

Accrued 

expenses

¥          381

Borrowing of long-

term loans

               — 

(i) (ii)

Long-term loans 

payable

¥2,000,000

— Lessee Rent revenue-real 

estate

¥     23,475 

(i) (ii) (iii)

— —

Executive Director of the Company and 

Representative Director and President of AEON Reit 

Management Co., Ltd.

Payment of asset 

management fee to 

asset manager

¥   330,683 

(i) (iv) (v)

Accounts 

payable - other

¥   107,389

 (iv) Transaction terms are determined taking into consideration current market prices.

 (v) The asset management fee represents transactions performed by Kenji Kawahara in the role of representative of a third party (AEON Reit 

Management Co., Ltd.). The amount of the asset management fee is in accordance with the terms set forth in the Articles of Incorporation of the 

Company.
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As of / For the six-month period ended July 31, 2015

Attribute Name Location

Capital stock or 
investments in 

capital 
(Millions of yen) Business or occupation

Ownership of voting 
rights (%)

Subsidiary of other 

affiliates

AEON Reit 

Management Co., 

Ltd.

Chiyoda City, Tokyo ¥     350 Investment management 

business

—

Subsidiary of other 

affiliates

AEON Retail Co., 

Ltd.

Chiba City, Chiba 

Pref.

¥48,970 Retail business —

Subsidiary of other 

affiliates

AEON Mall Co., 

Ltd.

Chiba City, Chiba 

Pref.

¥42,210 Real estate business —

Subsidiary of other 

affiliates

AEON Hokkaido 

Corporation

Sapporo City, 

Hokkaido

¥  6,100 Retail business —

Subsidiary of other 

affiliates

AEON BANK, LTD. Koto City, Tokyo ¥51,250 Banking business —

Subsidiary of other 

affiliates

AEON CO. (M) 

BHD.

Kuala Lumpur, 

Malaysia

702 million 

RM

Retail business —

Officer Kenji Kawahara — — Executive Director of the 

Company and Representative 

Director and President of AEON 

Reit Management Co., Ltd.

(owned)

Direct

0.0%

Notes: (i) The amount of transaction does not include consumption taxes.

 (ii) Transaction terms are determined through price negotiations based on current market prices.

 (iii) The asset management fee for the six-month period ended July 31, 2015 includes management fees of ¥123,200 thousand ($993 thousand) related 

to property acquisitions that were capitalized as part of the acquisition cost for the individual real property and disposition fees of ¥19 thousand 

($0 thousand) that were deducted from gain on sales of real estate properties.

 (iv) Amount of transaction is converted to Japanese yen based on the exchange rate at the time of the transaction (based on the average spot 

exchange rate of the month preceding the month in which the transaction was carried out).
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Relationship

Nature of transaction

Amount of transaction 
(Thousands of yen) 

(Thousands of 
U.S. dollars) Account

Ending balance 
(Thousands of yen) 

(Thousands of 
U.S. dollars)Interlocking officers Business relationship

One officer Asset manager Payment of asset 

management fee

¥      483,409

(i) (ii) (iii)

($3,897)

Accounts 

payable – other

¥   143,548

($1,157)

— Lessee and recipient 

of land rent payment

Rent revenue-real 

estate

¥  4,082,794

(i) (ii)

($32,920)

Tenant 

leasehold and 

security 

deposits in trust

¥3,552,595

($28,645)

Land rent paid, etc. ¥     724,554

(i) (ii)

($5,842)

— —

— Acquisition of trust 

beneficiary rights in 

real estate, lessee 

and recipient of land 

rent payment

Acquisition of trust 

beneficiary rights in 

real estate

¥21,470,000

(i) (ii)

($173,117)

— —

Rent revenue-real 

estate

¥  4,448,055

(i) (ii)

($35,865)

Tenant 

leasehold and 

security 

deposits

¥       2,628

($21)

Tenant 

leasehold and 

security 

deposits in trust

¥4,556,916

($36,743)

Land rent paid, etc. ¥      334,161

(i) (ii)

($2,694)

— —

— Lessee and recipient 

of land rent payment

Rent revenue-real 

estate

¥     608,119

(i) (ii)

($4,903)

— —

Land rent paid, etc. ¥     137,896

(i) (ii)

($1,111)

— —

— Lender Interest expenses ¥         6,428

(i) (ii)

($51)

Accrued 

expenses

¥          395

($3)

Payment of 

borrowing-related 

fees

¥         1,395

(i) (ii)

($11)

— —

Borrowing of long-

term loans

¥     300,000

(i) (ii)

($2,418)

Long-term loans 

payable

¥2,300,000

($18,545)

— Lessee Rent revenue-real 

estate

¥       23,286

(i) (ii) (iv)

($187)

— —

Executive Director of the Company and 

Representative Director and President of AEON Reit 

Management Co., Ltd.

Payment of asset 

management fee to 

asset manager

¥     483,409

(i) (iii) (v) (vi)

($3,897)

Accounts 

payable – other

¥   143,548

($1,157)

 (v) Transaction terms are determined taking into consideration current market prices.

 (vi) The asset management fee represents transactions performed by Kenji Kawahara in the role of representative of a third party (AEON Reit 

Management Co., Ltd.). The amount of the asset management fee is in accordance with the terms set forth in the Articles of Incorporation of the 

Company.
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15. Per Unit Information

Net assets per unit as of January 31, 2015 and July 31, 2015 and net income per unit for the six-month periods 

then ended are as follows:

As of / For the six-month period ended

January 31, 2015 July 31, 2015 July 31, 2015

(Yen) (U.S. dollars)

Net assets per unit ¥103,896 ¥   109,536 $883   

Net income per unit ¥    2,473 ¥       2,746 $  22  

Weighted average number of investment units for 

the period (Units)
950,000 1,081,176

Net income per unit is calculated by dividing net income by the weighted average number of investment 

units outstanding during the period. Diluted net income per unit is not presented since there was no poten-

tially dilutive investment unit.

16. Segment Information

Segment information for the six-month periods ended January 31, 2015 and July 31, 2015 is omitted as the 

Company is comprised of a single reportable segment engaged in the real estate leasing business.

Related Information

(i) Information by product and service

For the six-month periods ended January 31, 2015 and July 31, 2015, disclosure is omitted since operating revenue 

from external customers of products and services within a single category were more than 90% of operating reve-

nue on the statements of income.

(ii) Information by geographical area

Operating revenue

For the six-month periods ended January 31, 2015 and July 31, 2015, disclosure is omitted since operating revenue 

from external customers in Japan exceeded 90% of operating revenue on the statements of income.

Property and equipment

For the six-month periods ended January 31, 2015 and July 31, 2015, disclosure is omitted since the amount of 

property and equipment located in Japan exceeded 90% of property and equipment on the balance sheets.

(iii) Information by major customer

Operating revenue for the six-month period ended

January 31, 2015 July 31, 2015 July 31, 2015 Related segment

Name of customer (Thousands of yen) (Thousands of U.S. dollars)

AEON Retail Co., Ltd. ¥3,538,328 ¥4,082,794 $32,920 
Real estate leasing 

business

AEON Mall Co., Ltd. ¥3,858,083 ¥4,448,055 $35,865 
Real estate leasing 

business

AEON Hokkaido Corporation ¥            — ¥   608,119 $  4,903 
Real estate leasing 

business

AEON CO. (M) BHD. ¥     23,475 ¥     23,286 $     187 
Real estate leasing 

business
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General Meeting of Unitholders

AEON REIT Investment Corporation

Executive Director: Kenji Kawahara
Supervisory Director: Chiyu Abo
Supervisory Director: Yoko Seki

Board of Directors

Independent Auditor

PricewaterhouseCoopers Aarata

Asset Manager

AEON Reit Management Co., Ltd.

Custodian

Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank, Limited

Transfer Agent

Mizuho Trust & Banking Co., Ltd.

General Administrator

Mitsubishi UFJ Trust and 
Banking Corporation

Account Administrator

Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank, Limited

Sponsor

AEON CO., LTD.*

Pipeline Support Companies
Shopping Center Management

Support Companies

AEON Mall Co., Ltd.* 
AEON Retail Co., Ltd.*

AEON Hokkaido Corporation
AEON KYUSHU CO., LTD.
AEON RYUKYU CO., LTD.

AEON TOWN Co., Ltd.

Support Company Related to
Investments in Properties in

Malaysia

Shareholders’ Meeting

Board of Directors

President & Representative Director

Investment Committee Compliance Committee

Investment Management
Department

Asset Management
Department

Finance and Planning
Department

Business Administration
Department

Accounting System
Department

Compliance Officer

Compliance Department

Audit & Supervisory Board Member

(a)

(e)

(d)

Administrator for 
Investment Corporation Bonds

Mizuho Bank, Ltd.

(k)

(c)

(b)
(f)

(g)

(h) (i)

(j)

AEON CO. (M) BHD.

Executive Director: Kenji Kawahara
Supervisory Director: Chiyu Abo
Supervisory Director: Yoko Seki

Board of Directors

Independent Auditor

PricewaterhouseCoopers Aarata

Asset Manager

AEON Reit Management Co., Ltd.

(a)( )

(a) Asset management agreement
(b) Asset custody agreement
(c) Transfer agency agreement
(d) General administration agreement
(e) Account administration agreement
(f) Trademark license agreement

(g) Sponsor support agreement
(h) Pipeline support agreements
(i) Shopping center management agreements
(j) Memorandum of understanding on investments in properties in Malaysia
(k) Fiscal, issuing, and payment agency agreement

Structure and Formation of Investment 

Corporation / Profi le of the Asset Manager

*AEON CO., LTD., AEON Mall Co., Ltd. and AEON Retail Co., Ltd. qualify as designated related parties.

Profile of the Asset Manager

Name AEON Reit Management Co., Ltd.

Paid-in Capital ¥350 million

Shareholder AEON CO., LTD. (100%)

President & Representative 

Director
Kenji Kawahara

License/Permission/

Registration

License for building lots and building transaction business: Governor of Tokyo (1) No. 94328 

Permission for discretionary transaction agent, etc., under the Building Lots and Building 

Transaction Business Act: Minister of Land, Infrastructure, Transport and Tourism, Permit No. 73

Registration of financial instruments business: Kanto Local Finance Bureau, Director-General 

(Financial Instruments), No. 2668

Structure and Formation of AEON REIT Investment Corporation
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(Units)

Number of Units Number of Unitholders

1,090,200 16,040
Total Total

Individuals and others

Individuals
and others

Financial institutions
(including financial
instruments firms)

Financial institutions
(including financial
instruments firms)

Other domestic
corporations

Other domestic
corporations

Foreign corporations
Foreign corporations

15,470

105,873

129

615,460

310

269,805

131
99,062

96.4%

56.5%

0.8%

9.7%

1.9%

24.7%

0.8%

9.1%

Listing of units

AEON REIT investment unit price (left scale)

Tokyo Stock Exchange REIT Index (left scale)

Stock trading volume (right scale)
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Investor Information

Note: Unit price is an index with AEON REIT’s unit closing price of ¥113,600 on the November 22, 2013 listing date representing 100. 

Tokyo Stock Exchange REIT Index is an index with the closing value of the actual index on AEON REIT’s November 22, 2013 listing 

date representing 100.

AEON REIT Investment Unit Price and TSE REIT Index

Unitholders by Type (As of July 31, 2015)
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AEON REIT Investment Corporation

1-2-1, Kanda Nishiki-cho, Chiyoda-ku, 

Tokyo 101-0054, Japan

http://www.aeon-jreit.co.jp/en/


